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In landmark speech on Venezuela, 
President Trump says  ‘the twilight 

hour of socialism has arrived’  9
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Emel Akan

WASHINGTON—U.S. and Chinese negotiators 
meet this week for the last time before a March 
1 deadline set by the two countries to reach a 
deal on trade. If talks don’t yield a satisfac-
tory outcome, an increase in tariffs and the 
resulting tensions may hurt U.S.–North Korea 
engagement as well, an expert said.

A Chinese delegation arrived in Washington 
to start another round of trade talks with the 
U.S. trade officials on Feb. 19. The White House 
earlier said that if both sides fail to reach a deal 
by March 1, the United States would increase 
tariffs on Chinese goods.

Right before the “hard deadline,” President 
Donald Trump will hold a second summit with 
North Korean Leader Kim Jong Un on Feb. 27 
and 28 in Vietnam.

The timing of these meetings is critical as the 
U.S.–China relationship is a significant part of 
the recent developments in the Korean Pen-
insula, according to Harry Kazianis, director 
of Korea Studies at the Center for the National 
Interest, a foreign policy think tank.

“It’s very hard for the United States because, 
unfortunately, we’ve made a tactical mistake 
when it comes to China and North Korea,” 
Kazianis told NTD, part of The Epoch Media 
Group.

“Essentially, our maximum pressure policy of 
economic sanctions is almost entirely enforced 
by Beijing because 90 percent of North Korea’s 
exports go through China,” he explained.

The Trump administration launched a maxi-
mum pressure campaign against North Korea 
in 2017 to try to end its illicit missile and nuclear 
activity, through sanctions and regional alli-
ances.

China may use North Korea as a bargaining 
chip in the trade talks, Kazianis argued.

If China fails to meet U.S. demands on trade, 
Washington may hit it with increased tariffs on 
$200 billion worth of Chinese goods on March 
1. In retaliation, however, China may end the 
maximum pressure campaign on North Korea, 

Kazianis said.
“Unfortunately, they could do that by open-

ing the border,” he argued. “So there’s a bal-
ancing act I think the Trump administration 
is trying to do here.”

However, both sides have reasons to com-

promise, according to Kazianis, as China’s 
economic woes continue to put pressure on 
Chinese leader Xi Jinping.

The Chinese economy has come under great-
er downward pressure mainly due to trade fric-
tion with the United States. Economic growth 

in China slowed to its weakest pace in nearly 
three decades in the fourth quarter. If both 
sides fail to reach a deal and trade tensions re-
sume, China’s troubles will deepen, according 
to experts.

‘Very Complex Talks’
The new round of U.S.–China trade talks kicked 
off Feb. 19 at the deputy-level, and principal-
level meetings will begin Feb. 21, according to 
the White House. U.S. Trade Representative 
Robert Lighthizer will lead the talks on the 
U.S. side, while the Chinese team is headed 
by Vice Premier Liu He, China’s economy czar.

The meetings are a part of an agreement 
reached by Trump and Xi in early December 
in Buenos Aires, Argentina, where both sides 
declared a 90-day ceasefire on tariff increases.

“They are very complex talks. They’re going 
very well,” Trump told reporters during an 
Oval Office signing ceremony on Feb. 19.

“We’re asking for everything that anybody 
has ever even suggested. These are not just, you 
know, ‘Let’s sell corn or let’s do this.’ It’s going 
to be selling corn but a lot of it—a lot more than 
anyone thought possible.”

As part of the deal between Trump and Xi, 
Beijing agreed to deliver structural reforms in 
90 days. These structural changes aim to end 
China’s unfair trade policies and practices in-
cluding forced technology transfer, intellectual 
property theft, non-tariff barriers, cyber intru-
sions, and cyber theft. China has also pledged 
to purchase a substantial amount of goods and 
services from the United States.

When asked about tariff hike on March 1, 
Trump said China wouldn’t like that to happen.

“So I think they’re trying to move fast so that 
doesn’t happen,” he said.

Trump also expressed optimism about the 
upcoming meeting with the North Korean 
leader.

“I’d just like to see, ultimately, denucleariza-
tion of North Korea. I think we will see that 
ultimately,” he said. “I have no pressing time 
schedule.”

Janita Kan

upreme Court Justice Ruth Bader Gins-
burg has returned to the bench eight 
weeks after undergoing lung cancer 
surgery.

The 85-year-old justice joined her 
eight colleagues for a scheduled one-
hour argument in a case involving the 
U.S. Postal Service on Feb. 19.

She wore one of her signature deco-
rative collars and stood with the other 
eight justices as the court marshal called 
the court to order, before taking her 
usual seat to the right of Chief Justice 
John Roberts.

Prior to returning to the bench, Gins-
burg had returned to the court for the 
justices’ private conference on Feb. 15 
for the first time since December 2018.

The oldest judge of the court’s nine 
justices  underwent surgery to re-
move two malignant growths in her left 
lung at the Memorial Sloan Kettering 
Cancer Center on Dec. 21, 2018. She was 
released from the New York hospital on 
Christmas Day.

The court said in December 2018 that 
growths were found incidentally during 
tests when she was being treated for rib 
fractures sustained in a fall at her office 
on Nov. 7, 2018. They added that there 
was no evidence of remaining disease 
after surgery and no further treatment 
was planned.

In January, for the first time in her 
25-year tenure, the liberal judge missed 
oral arguments in court but participat-
ed in the cases through briefs and the 
transcripts of oral arguments. She also 
missed the State of the Union on Feb. 5.

Her absence caught national atten-
tion and attracted speculation about 
her health and whether her time on 
the court might be coming to an end.

If Ginsburg is unable to continue 
serving, Trump could replace her with 
a conservative judge, which would shift 
the court further to the right. Since 2017, 
Trump has appointed two conservative 
judges—Neil Gorsuch and Brett Kavana-

ugh—to the highest court.
But Ginsburg has previously indicated 

that she has no plans of retiring by hir-
ing clerks for the term that extends into 
2020. Moreover, in an interview August 
2018, she said that she wanted to stay on 
the bench until at least the age of 90.

“I’m now 85,”  she said, according 
to CNN. “My senior colleague, Justice 
John Paul Stevens, he stepped down 
when he was 90, so think I have about 
at least five more years.”

After her surgery, Ginsburg spent 
about a month out of the public eye, 
but she attended a concert dedicated 
to Ginsburg called “Notorious RBG 
in Song” on Feb. 4, according to re-

ports. The concert took place at the 
National Museum of Women in the Arts.

Appointed by former President Bill 
Clinton in 1993, Ginsburg has shown 
determination to remain on the bench 
despite undergoing surgery for colon 
cancer in 1999 and pancreatic cancer 
in 2009, as well as other health scares. 
However, these did not cause her to miss 
any argument sessions.

Weeks after her fall in November, 
Ginsburg showed no signs of slowing 
down. She asked questions at high court 
arguments, spoke at a naturalization 
ceremony for new citizens, and was 
interviewed at screenings of the new 
movie about her, “On the Basis of Sex.”

Meanwhile, President Donald Trump 
previously told reporters that he hoped 
Ginsburg would get better and serve 
on the supreme court for “many, many 
years.”

“I wish her well. She said something 
very inappropriate during the campaign 
but she apologized for it. I wouldn’t say 
she’s exactly on my side. But I wish her 
well,” Trump said.

During the 2016 presidential election, 
Ginsburg criticized Trump and called 
him a “faker,” which is an uncharacter-
istic move for a Supreme Court justice. 
She later apologized for her comment.

Reuters contributed to this report.

Associate Justice Ruth Bader Ginsburg poses for the official photo at the Supreme Court in Washington on Nov. 30, 2018.     
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North Korea’s leader Kim Jong Un (L) shakes hands with US President Donald Trump (R) at the 
start of their historic US-North Korea summit, at the Capella Hotel on Sentosa island in Singapore 
on June 12, 2018.
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Jussie Smollett in New York on Nov. 28, 2018.
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While 
authorities have 
yet to release a 
new statement, 
it comes as 
similar high-
profile hate 
crime hoaxes 
plague the 
Trump era.

Bowen Xiao

The Jussie Smollett investigation recently made 
a major turn when new reports said the two Ni-
gerian brothers arrested for the alleged assault 
against “Empire” actor Jussie Smollett were 
paid to stage the attack. Authorities no longer 
list the two brothers as suspects in the case. 
Production sources told TMZ on Feb. 19 that 
Smollett’s screen time was cut significantly.

The actor could face time in prison for po-
tentially filing a false police report. While au-
thorities have yet to release a new statement, 
it comes as similar high-profile hate crime 
hoaxes plague the Trump era.

1
Vandalized Indiana Church
After President Donald Trump was 

elected in 2016, a church in Brown County, 
Indiana, which recognizes same-sex marriage, 
was allegedly vandalized with “Heil Trump,” 

swastikas, and an anti-gay slur. It was later 
revealed that the incident—which generated 
widespread media coverage and stoked fear 
in the community at St. David’s Episcopal 
Church—was a hoax.

The church’s gay organ player George Na-
thaniel Stang was the perpetrator. Stang faced 
a misdemeanor charge of criminal mischief for 
vandalization.

2 Brooklyn Synagogue and Fires
Trump supporters took the blame for a 

series of hate crimes including Nazi vandalism 
at a Brooklyn synagogue and fires in a Jew-
ish community—just days after the Pittsburgh 
massacre. The perpetrator was actually an Af-
rican-American man named James Polite who 
worked for Christine Quinn, a New York City 
council speaker at the time. Polite faced four 
counts of criminal mischief as a hate crime 
and making graffiti.

3
Mississippi Black Church Fire
A historic black church in Greenville, 

Mississippi, was set on fire about one week 
before the 2016 presidential election and was 
widely dubbed a hate crime when the words 
“Vote Trump” were found spray-painted on the 
outside of the charred building.

An investigation soon revealed that the per-
petrator was not a Trump supporter but an Af-
rican-American member of the church named 
Andrew McClinton. He was charged with first-
degree arson of a place of worship.

4
Muslim Student Assault Hoax
Also in 2016, a Muslim student at the 

University of Louisiana claimed two white 
Trump supporters physically attacked her 
and stole her hijab—the story went viral. But 
the Lafayette Police Department revealed later 
that the student had made up the whole story. 

The young woman’s identity was not revealed 
and the university said they could not com-
ment on if the student would face disciplinary 
action, citing federal privacy law.

5
Long Island Swastika Case
Trump’s name came up again in rela-

tion to a string of anti-Semitic graffiti across 
Nassau Community College in Long Island. 
The perpetrator was actually 20-year-old stu-
dent Jasskirat Saini.

Authorities said Saini drew 110 swastikas—
along with phrases such as “KKK,” and “Heil 
Hitler”—as a reaction to what he believed were in-
sults from the Jewish community. The student’s 
graffiti spree started before Election Day in 2016.

6
NYC Subway ‘Attack’
A Muslim woman lied that she had been 

attacked by three white Trump supporters 
in New York City while on the subway. She 
claimed the men had tried to rip off her hijab 
while screaming “Trump! Trump!” in Decem-
ber 2016.

Yasmin Seweid, 18, was charged for filing a 
false report and for obstructing governmental 
administration, the police said, both misde-
meanor charges. She was a student at Baruch 
College.

7
Fake Note and Slashed Tire
A 19-year-old student Adwoa Lewis lied to 

police in September 2018 about a hateful note on 
her car and a slashed tire. Lewis said a group of 
teens yelled “Trump 2016” after confronting her 
and told her she “didn’t belong here.”

Authorities found that she had faked the 
whole incident. Lewis admitted she had writ-
ten the note herself and placed it in her vehicle. 
She was charged for faking a punishable writ-
ten statement.

8
Graffiti on Campus
In November 2018, students at Goucher 

College demanded social justice training and 
safe spaces after racist, Nazi, and KKK graffiti 
were found on campus. Someone even wrote 
the names of black students. Trump supporters 
were blamed.

Authorities charged a biracial student 
at Goucher College near Baltimore after he 
had confessed to the race hoax.

Fynn Arthur, 21, wrote down the phone 
numbers of three black students, including 
himself, as well as a swastika on a campus 
bathroom stall in December 2018 to fake a 
racially motivated threat. At the time, a num-
ber of students at the college demanded social 
justice training and safe spaces as a response 
to the now debunked incident. Arthur, an 
African-American himself, later confessed to 
the crimes and faces two counts of malicious 
destruction of property.

A List of 

Fake Hate Crimes
in the Trump Era

Socialist Bernie Sanders 
Announces 2020 Presidential Bid
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Ivan Pentchoukov

en. Bernie Sanders, a self-identified socialist, 
announced his 2020 presidential bid on Feb. 19, 
joining a crowded field of far-left candidates 
vying for the Democratic nomination.

Sanders (I-Vt.) announced his candidacy in 
an email to supporters and a video posted on 
Twitter. The video features the socialist policies 
which have helped steer the Democratic party 
to the hard left, including Medicare for All, the 
Green New Deal, free public university tuition, 
and the $15 minimum wage.

“Our campaign is about creating a govern-
ment and economy that works for the many, 
not just the few,” Sanders said in an email to 
supporters.

In 2016, Sanders lost the Democratic presi-
dential primary election to Hillary Clin-
ton. Sanders’ push against Clinton, a former 
first lady, U.S. senator and secretary of state, 
was notable because few Democrats seemed 
inclined to challenge her claim on the nomi-
nation.

Emails hacked from the Clinton campaign 
showed that the Democratic National Com-
mittee, which isn’t supposed to favor candi-
dates, conspired with the Clinton campaign 
to defeat him.

While he has remained mum about Clinton 
and the DNC, Sanders has relentlessly criti-
cized President Donald Trump. In response to 
Sanders’s 2020 bid announcement, Trump’s 
campaign issued a statement pointing out that 
Sanders is a socialist.

“Bernie Sanders has already won the debate in 
the Democrat primary because every candidate 
is embracing his brand of socialism,” Kayleigh 
McEnany, the Trump campaign spokeswoman, 
said. “But the American people will reject an 
agenda of sky-high tax rates, government-run 
health care and coddling dictators like those 
in Venezuela. Only President Trump will keep 
America free, prosperous and safe.”

Sanders joins a Democratic primary field 

already populated by a number of far-left 
Democrats who are steering clear of the 
“moderate” label, including Sen. Cory 
Booker (D-N.J.), Sen. Kirsten Gil-
librand (D-N.Y.), Sen. Kamala 
Harris (D-Calif.), Sen. Elizabeth 
Warren (D-Mass.), and Sen. 
Amy Klobuchar (D-Minn.).

While the contestants 
share much of Sanders’s 
platform, most are either 
women or ethnic minori-
ties, characteristics bear-
ing an advantage from 
the perspective of the in-
tersectional politics of the 
Democratic party. Sanders 
showed that he was aware of 
the disadvantage and tackled 
it in an interview with Vermont 
Public Radio.

“We have got to look at candi-
dates, you know, not by the color of 
their skin, not by their sexual orientation 
or their gender and not by their age,” Sand-
ers said. “I think we have got to try to move us 
toward a non-discriminatory society which 
looks at people based on their abilities, based 
on what they stand for.”

The primaries and caucuses that determine 
the party’s nominee will begin in February 
2020 in Iowa, and the Democratic winner is 
likely to face Trump in the general election in 
November.

Sanders announced his bid the day after 
Trump delivered a speech on socialism to the 
Venezuelan community in Florida. The pres-
ident vowed to support Venezuela’s interim 
President Juan Guaidó and slammed socialist 
dictator Nicolas Maduro as a puppet of the Cu-
ban communist regime. Trump said the “days 
of socialism and communism are numbered” 
in South America and the world.

In an interview with CBS, Sanders said he 
was expecting Trump to suggest that socialist 

policies would collapse the U.S. 
economy much like what hap-

pened to Venezuela. The president 
has often used Venezuela as an example 

of socialism’s failure. Once an oil-rich na-
tion, Venezuela has been crippled by socialist 
policies instituted by Maduro and his prede-
cessor.

“Socialism has so completely ravaged this 
great country that even the world’s largest re-
serves of oil are no longer enough to keep the 
lights on. This will never happen to us,” Trump 
said as the crowd in Miami.

A former mayor of Burlington, Vermont, 
Sanders won a House of Representatives seat 
in 1990, making him the first independent 
elected to the House in 40 years. In 2006, he 
won a Senate seat and in 2018 was voted in for 
a third six-year term.

“Personally, I think he missed his time,” 
Trump said on Feb. 19. “I wish Bernie well, it 
will be interesting to see how he does. He was 
not treated with respect by Clinton.”

Reuters contributed to this report.

Bernie Sanders 
has already won 

the debate in 
the Democrat 

primary because 
every candidate 
is embracing his 

brand of socialism.

Kayleigh McEnany, 
Trump campaign 

spokeswoman
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Heartland Institute sSen. 
Bernie Sanders (I-Vt.) in 
Columbia, S.C., on Jan. 
21, 2019.   

Supreme Court Justice 
Ruth Bader Ginsburg Returns to the 

Bench After Lung Cancer Surgery

China May Use N. Korea as Bargaining 
Chip in Trade Talks, Expert Says
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The U.S. Capitol on Jan. 30, 2018. Former FBI lawyer Trisha Anderson gave a closed-door testimony before congressional investigators on Aug. 31, 2018.
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A key player in the FBI’s counterintelligence 
investigation of Donald Trump and his 2016 
presidential campaign was Trisha Anderson, 
who, at the time, was the No. 2 lawyer at the 
agency’s Office of General Counsel.

Despite having no specific experience in 
counterintelligence before coming to the FBI, 
Anderson was, in some manner, involved in 
virtually all of the significant events of the 
investigation.

Anderson told members of the House Judi-
ciary and Oversight committees in August last 
year during closed-door testimony that she was 
one of only about 10 people who had known 
about the Trump–Russia investigation prior to 
its official opening.

A transcript of Anderson’s testimony, which 
was reviewed for this article, reveals that she 
had read all of the FBI’s FD302 forms detail-
ing information that the author of the Steele 
dossier, former British spy Christopher Steele, 
had provided to high-ranking Department of 
Justice (DOJ) official Bruce Ohr.

Anderson also told lawmakers that she per-
sonally signed off on the original application for 
a warrant to spy on former Trump campaign 
adviser Carter Page without having read it. The 
FBI relied heavily on the unverified informa-
tion in the Steele dossier—which was paid for by 
the Clinton campaign and the Democratic Na-
tional Committee—to obtain the FISA warrant.

Anderson also was part of a small group of 
FBI personnel who got to read then-FBI Direc-
tor James Comey’s memos about conversations 
he had with President Donald Trump.

Besides the investigation into Trump, Ander-
son also was involved in the FBI’s investigation 
of Hillary Clinton for sending classified infor-
mation using a private server.

Anderson’s testimony reveals that she re-
ceived the original referral from the inspec-
tors general for both the State Department 
and Intelligence Community on Clinton after 
hundreds of classified emails had been found 
on her server.

Her testimony also raises questions as to 
whether then-Attorney General Loretta Lynch 
had a conflict of interest.

Lawmakers also questioned Anderson about 
whether she advised Comey against making 
a public announcement that the FBI had re-
opened its investigation into Clinton following 
findings on the laptop of former Rep. Anthony 
Weiner (D-N.Y.) because Comey would have 
been “responsible for getting Donald Trump 
elected.”

Anderson Reviewed the Ohr 302s
Anderson testified that she knew Ohr from her 
time in the deputy attorney general’s office, 
where she’d “had a couple of meetings with 
him,” but didn’t have any interaction with Ohr 
while she was with the FBI.

Ohr was approached by Steele—whom he had 
known since 2007—in July 2016 with informa-
tion about the Trump campaign. Ohr would 
pass the information to the FBI. After the FBI of-
ficially stopped working with Steele, Ohr would 
continue to meet with Steele and pass informa-
tion to the FBI. These conversations between 
Ohr and his FBI handler, agent Joseph Pientka, 
were recorded by Pientka on FD302 forms.

In response to a question regarding any in-
formation she might have gotten from Ohr, 
Anderson—after a brief consult with counsel—
told congressional investigators that she had 
personally reviewed all of the 302s relating to 
Ohr’s meetings with Steele:
Ms. Anderson: “Yeah, so at some point, I re-
ceived the 302s, the written summaries of the 
interviews that FBI personnel conducted with 
Mr. Ohr about his interactions with Christo-
pher Steele. But it was not contemporaneous 
with the drafting of those 302s; it was much 
later.”

Anderson told investigators she reviewed the 
Ohr 302s “after the House Permanent Select 
Committee on Intelligence produced its memo 
on the Carter Page FISAs” in January 2018.
Ms. Anderson: “So I received them in the course 
of the oversight process. So I believe the first 
time I reviewed them was probably after the 
House Permanent Select Committee on Intel-
ligence produced its memo on the Carter Page 
FISAs. I believe there was a reference in that 
memo to statements that Mr. Steele made to 
Bruce Ohr that were documented in our 302s. 
And that was the first time I received those 302s 
and reviewed them.”

Anderson didn’t reveal why she chose to re-
view the Ohr 302s, nor what it was that she 
was specifically looking for.

Anderson testified that she previously had 
been unaware that Ohr had been meeting with 
FBI personnel, and made no mention of Ohr’s 
FBI handler, Pientka. She said she was aware 
of one meeting Ohr had with McCabe, which 
almost certainly refers to the early August 2016 
meeting that Ohr had with McCabe, following 
Ohr’s breakfast meeting with Steele on July 
30, 2016.

The Carter Page FISA
Anderson signed off on the original application 
for a warrant to spy on former Trump cam-
paign adviser Carter Page—before the applica-
tion went to Comey—despite not having read it.

During her testimony, Anderson highlighted 
the unusual nature of the Page FISA application 
process and the curious roles of McCabe and 
then-Deputy Attorney General Sally Yates, who 
provided approvals of the Page FISA before nor-
mal FBI and DOJ approvals had been obtained:
Ms. Anderson: “All necessary approvals, includ-
ing up through and including the leadership of 
the FBI and the leadership of the Department, 
by the time I put that signature on the cover 
page had already been obtained.”

These early high-level approvals were dis-
tinctly outside of the normal FISA process. An-
derson and others were supposed to have pro-
vided approvals before the FISA was presented 
to senior FBI and DOJ officials. Anderson ap-
peared to be fully aware of the uniqueness of 
this particular application process:
Ms. Anderson: “There were individuals, all the 
way up to the Deputy Director and the Deputy 
Attorney General on the DOJ side, who had 
essentially given their approval to the FISA 
before it got to that step in the process. That 
part of it was unusual, and so I didn’t consider 
my review at that point in the process to be 
substantive in nature.”

Anderson told congressional in-
vestigators that with regard to the 

Page FISA, by signing off she “was 
simply signaling, yes, this package 
is ready to go forward.”

Anderson attempted to provide 
an explanation for the unusual 
process, noting, “We under-
stood, because of who Carter 

Page was, that people would 
second-guess the appro-

priateness of submit-
ting the FISA applica-

tion, and so we were 
taking extra care 

with the applica-
tion itself.”

Yet, at the same time, Anderson admitted that 
not only had she not read the original Page FISA 
application, but she was also unable to recall 
if she had read any of the Page FISA renewals.

Anderson Defines ‘Spy’
Trump on several occasions has made refer-
ence to a spy placed within his campaign. We 
know the FBI used Stefan Halper as “a govern-
ment informant” in relation to his contacts 
with Trump campaign advisers George Pa-
padopoulos and Carter Page, but the FBI has 
denied the use of an actual spy.

Anderson also stated she had no knowledge 
of a spy, but was later asked to define her un-
derstanding of the word:
Mr. Breitenbach: “Does a spy, in your mind, 
include a human confidential source?”
Ms. Anderson: “No.”
Mr. Breitenbach: “Does a spy include an un-
dercover FBI employee?”
Ms. Anderson: “I don’t know.”

After more questioning, Anderson provided 
her reasoning in stating there had been no spy 
in the Trump campaign.
Ms. Anderson: “First, the word ‘spy’ did not 
seem commensurate with what I understood 
had been done in this particular case. And the 
other thing was the verb, the use of the verb 
‘place’ a spy or ‘place’ a source within a cam-
paign. To my knowledge, the FBI did not place 
anybody within a campaign but, rather, relied 
upon its network of sources, some of whom 
already had campaign contacts, including the 
source that has been discussed in the media at 
some length beyond Christopher Steele.”

Anderson was referring back to the FBI’s use 
of Halper.

Anderson was very careful during her testi-
mony but, at times, her statements were con-
tradicted by testimony from other individuals 
interviewed by the House committees. Her 
involvement in matters relating to both the 
Clinton and Trump–Russia investigations ex-
ceeded what had been publicly known and 
appears to have been at a level comparable to 
that of her former boss, FBI General Counsel 
James Baker.

Anderson Briefed Early on Weiner Laptop
Anderson was briefed by FBI attorney Sally 
Moyer regarding the existence of potential 
evidence on the laptop of former Rep. Wein-
er—who is married to longtime Clinton aide 
Huma Abedin—on Sep. 29, 2016. Anderson 
downplayed the early notification, telling in-
vestigators that she only recalled being told that 
“there were materials associated with Huma 
Abedin that may have been identified on the 
laptop,” and said she had no interaction with 
the New York field office that was processing 
the Weiner laptop.

According to Anderson, her next interac-
tion in relation to the Weiner laptop came 
on Oct. 27, 2016, when she had a meeting 
with FBI Deputy Director Andrew McCabe 
on the matter—directly preceding the more 
formal meeting where the team working on 
the Clinton investigation, codenamed “Mid-
Year Exam,” briefed Comey for the first time 
of the existence of Clinton emails on Weiner’s 
laptop.

During the Comey briefing, Anderson said 
the discussion included the possibility of 
obtaining a search warrant—and, if so, what 
public statements should be made about it. 
Anderson also noted that she was “concerned 
that the disclosure of what we had was—could 
be viewed as affecting the outcome of the elec-
tion.”

“I was concerned that, that there wasn’t, 
there wasn’t any form of a public statement that 
we could make that would not overinflate or 
overrepresent the significance of those emails 
in a way that would be unfair to an uncharged 
subject,” she said.

‘You Might Be Helping’ Trump
However, Comey attributed a different take to 
Anderson’s statement in his book, “A Higher 
Loyalty”:

“As we were arriving at this decision, one of 
the lawyers on the team asked a searing ques-
tion. She was a brilliant and quiet person whom 
I sometimes had to invite into the conversa-
tion. ‘Should you consider that what you are 
about to do may help elect Donald Trump for 
president?’ she asked.”

Comey provided a similar recollection to 
the IG, telling him that Anderson said, “How 
do you think about the fact that you might be 
helping elect Donald Trump?”

Anderson acknowledged during her testi-
mony that this specific passage from Comey’s 
book referred to her comments, but she also 
denied that she ever mentioned a specific can-
didate, claiming she was only concerned the 
FBI could be perceived as having an impact on 
a presidential election.

However, Anderson’s then-boss, James Bak-
er, during interviews with the IG, sided with 
Comey’s recollection of the actual concerns 
being voiced by Anderson:

“We’re going to interject ourselves into the 
election in a way that’s, that potentially or al-
most certainly will change the outcome. And 
I am, I, Trisha, am quite concerned about that. 
And I’m concerned about us being responsible 
for getting Donald Trump elected.”

Anderson was asked about her recollection at 
several different points during her testimony. 
Each time, she denied she had referred to a 
specific candidate.

The Comey Memos
Several officials, including McCabe’s special 
counsel Lisa Page and FBI agent Peter Strzok, 
were asked about Comey’s memos and admit-
ted to having been part of a small group that 
had read them. Anderson also was a member 
of this group:
Ms. Kim: “With regard to the Comey memos, 
were you one of the small group of people with 
whom Director Comey shared details about his 
conversations with President Trump contem-
poraneously?”
Ms. Anderson: “I was aware contemporaneously 
of certain of the meetings with — that Director 
Comey had with the President, yes.”

But there was one difference. When Ander-
son was asked additional questions that ex-
tended beyond her awareness of the memos, 
an FBI counsel immediately intervened:
Ms. Kim: “Did you generally find that Director 
Comey’s descriptions of these events in his 
written and oral testimony, and in his book, 
were consistent with the contemporaneous 
descriptions that he shared with you?”
Mr. Wellons: “May we confer with the witness, 
please?”
Ms. Kim: “Yes, please.”
Mr. Wellons: “Thank you.” [Discussion off the 
record.]
Mr. Wellons: “Thank you. The FBI is instruct-
ing the witness not to answer the last question 
asked or any other questions that delve into 
the details or contents of what are commonly 
referred to as the Comey memos, as we view 
that as evidence that pertains to the special 
counsel’s purview. Thank you.”

House Oversight Committee minority staff 
immediately objected on the grounds that the 
same question had been put to other witnesses 
who had been allowed to answer. Also noted 
was the fact that Comey’s memos had not only 
been declassified by this time, but had been 
released to the public. However, the FBI counsel 
stayed firm:
Mr. Wellons: “Thank you. The instruction 
stands for purposes of this line of questioning 
right now. If there is a particular document 
that has been officially declassified by the U.S. 
Government if you wish to show the witness, 
that may help move things along.”
Ms. Kim: “So, the FBI would not object to our 
bringing the Comey memos in and asking line 
by line if the witness agrees with the Director’s 
characterizations?”
Mr. Wellons: “We’re going to maintain the same 
objection at this time. I’m going to represent to 
you that if you have an officially declassified 
document by the U.S. Government, that may 
move things along.”

That earlier witnesses, such as Page and 
Strzok, were allowed to answer questions in 
June and July 2018, but Anderson was prevent-
ed from doing so a month later, raises ques-
tions as to what might have been uncovered 
during the intervening periods between the 
three testimonies.

Anderson Received First Call from IC Office
The Clinton email server investigation, known 

as the Mid-Year Exam, originated from a dis-
closure contained in a June 29, 2015, memo 
sent by the inspectors general for both the State 
Department and the Intelligence Community 
to Patrick F. Kennedy, then-undersecretary of 
state for management. The IGs’ memo included 
an assessment that Clinton’s email account 
contained hundreds of classified emails, de-
spite Clinton’s claims that there was no clas-
sified information present on her server.

On July 6, 2015, the IG for the Intelligence 
Community made a referral to the FBI, pursu-
ant to the Intelligence Authorization Act.

According to her Aug. 31, 2018, testimony, 
Anderson was the person that Jeannette Mc-
Millan, counsel for the Intelligence Commu-
nity IG’s office, reached out 
to in order to determine 
where to send the IG’s 
Section 811(c) referral on 
Clinton. These referrals are 
used to “advise the FBI of 
any information, regard-
less of origin, which may 
indicate that classified in-
formation is being, or may 
have been, disclosed in an 
unauthorized manner to a 
foreign power or agent of a 
foreign power.”

Anderson immediately 
“looped in” Sally Moyer, 
also known as FBI Attor-
ney 1 in the DOJ inspector 
general’s June 2018 report. 
Ultimately, the IG referral 
was sent to Randy Cole-
man, then-head of the 
FBI’s counterintelligence 
division.

The FBI then formally 
opened an investigation 
into the Clinton emails on 
July 10, 2015.

Anderson, who was 
asked her opinion of Clin-
ton’s actions in the use of her server, didn’t 
hesitate to make her feelings known:
Ms. Anderson: “We all held a sense that—that it 
was a pretty stupid thing to do, that anybody 
who has held a security clearance, anybody 
who has worked in the government under-
stands that you have—the cardinal rule that you 
have to do your work on a government system.

“So we all recognized from the outset that 
from a commonsense perspective from some-
body who has worked—from the perspective of 
somebody who has worked in the government 
that it seemed like a pretty dumb thing to do.”

But Anderson also maintained—as did Page, 
Baker, and the others—that Clinton shouldn’t 
have been charged under the “gross negli-
gence” statute, as they lacked evidence of 
intent.

Conflict of Interest Discussions
During her testimony, Anderson was asked 
about an email chain that had been originated 
by her, specifically a response she sent to an 
unknown party:

“Could you please follow up with [redacted] 
to get more detail about what she found 
on the conflict of interest 
component? Anything 
about whether 
there is usually 

an actual con-
flict, or have spe-
cial prosecutors been 
appointed due to an appear-
ance of conflict (or out of an abundance 
of caution)?”

Anderson claimed she couldn’t recall the spe-
cific email in question, but said that the June 
2018 IG report made reference to “an intern 
within NSLB who was asked to look into this 
issue in connection with the Mid-Year case.”

Anderson made the observation that the 
email in question originated “from around the 
time of the opening of the case, and I don’t 
recall any of the circumstances or reasons 
why this research would’ve been done.” Her 
answer appeared to satisfy the congressional 
investigators, who changed topics and moved 
on to other questions.

However, her response seems at odds with 
the IG report, which specifically references 
the issue in question as occurring at the start 
of the Mid-Year Exam:

“FBI Attorney 1 told us that the FBI Mid-Year 
team discussed whether they needed a special 
counsel at the beginning of the investigation 
in 2015. She said that at that time they had a 
legal intern research the statute.”

The appointment of a special counsel is spe-
cifically predicated on a conflict of interest for 
the DOJ.

Discussions Regarding Lynch ‘Classified 
Matter’
The issue of a special counsel appointment 
would be revisited by the FBI team again in 
March 2016 and, as Strzok told the IG, the topic 
resurfaced, due to “the discovery of classified 
information relating to Lynch.” This informa-

tion is contained in the 
fully classified appendix 
of the inspector general’s 
report.

The “classified matter” 
related to a Russian docu-
ment the FBI had received 
in early 2016, which re-
portedly referenced an 
email from Debbie Was-
serman Schultz, then-
chair of the Democratic 
National Committee, to 
Leonard Benardo, an of-
ficial with the George 
Soros-funded group Open 
Society Foundations.

In the email, Wasser-
man Schultz reportedly 
claimed that former At-
torney General Lynch had 
assured Clinton campaign 
staffer Amanda Renteria 
that she wouldn’t allow 
the FBI investigation of 
Clinton to “go too far.” 
Comey later testified that 
he believed the document 
to be genuine but was un-
able to corroborate the in-

formation it contained.
The ongoing discussions of Lynch’s potential 

conflict of interest also were referenced in an 
email, sent by Moyer, that mentioned “secret 
meetings” between Anderson and her former 
boss, then-FBI General Counsel Baker. Part of 
the email was quoted by congressional inves-
tigators during testimony by Moyer:

“All these ‘secret meetings’ that Trish and 
Jim are having regarding, MYE and [redacted] 
include George Toscas.  I get that TBA might 
want to brainstorm with Stu on these issues 
(although I don’t really see how it’s in his 
lane).  But why is George included and not our 
own people, especially when, if the reporting 
is true, there is a real conflict of interest?”

Anderson told investigators that she believed 
the email related to “a classified matter that’s 
discussed in the appendix to the IG report.” A 
bit later in her testimony, Anderson said she 
believed the email in question was referring 
to the classified Lynch “matter.”

Anderson’s previous tenure in the deputy 
attorney general’s office, where she held the 
positions of attorney-adviser in the Office of 

Legal Counsel and associate deputy 
attorney general, may have 

proved useful during 
the sequence of 

investigations. 

She noted that 
at one point, she 

“was more involved in 
meetings with DOJ when there 

were specific issues that came up that re-
quired high-level supervisory or executive 
engagement.”

Anderson described two meetings that took 
place at the DOJ. The first meeting, which oc-
curred prior to the drafting of Comey’s exon-
eration letter of Clinton, included DOJ officials 
George Toscas and Associate Deputy Attorney 
General David Margolis. Attending from the 
FBI were McCabe; the assistant director for the 
cyber division, Jim Trainor; Comey’s chief of 
staff, James Rybicki; and Anderson.

The second meeting included Toscas, Yates, 
Assistant Attorney General John Carlin, and 
DOJ official Matt Axelrod, along with Ander-
son, McCabe, and Rybicki. Anderson testified 
that Trainor, who left the FBI in late October 
2016, was gone from the FBI at the time of the 
second meeting, placing this subsequent meet-

ing sometime after October 2016.
Anderson later noted that the allegations 

against Lynch remained unverified.

‘Slightly More Than 10’
In addition to being included in the opening of 
the Clinton email investigation, Anderson also 
was part of a very small group that was aware 
of the Trump–Russia investigation prior to its 
official opening:
Ms. Kim: “So you said that you first became 
aware of what I’ll refer to as the Russia collu-
sion investigation in the July 2016 timeframe. 
Is that correct?”
Ms. Anderson: “Correct.”
Anderson said that she, Strzok, Lisa Page, Mc-
Cabe, Comey, and Baker were all aware of the 
investigation prior to the 2016 election. Add to 
that list Bill Priestap, Jonathan Moffa, Moyer, 
Pientka, Ohr, and Rybicki and you have a list 
of 12 individuals, which fits fairly well with 
Anderson’s testimony:
Ms. Kim: “To your knowledge, approximately 
how many FBI officials were aware of the ex-
istence of the Russia collusion investigation 
before the 2016 election?”
Ms. Anderson: “I don’t know the precise num-
ber, but it was very small.”
Ms. Kim: “I apologize for asking you to estimate. 
Would it be more—would it be more or fewer 
individuals than 10?”
Ms. Anderson: “Investigative personnel or any 
personnel in the FBI?”
Ms. Kim: “I will use any investigative—any in-
vestigative personnel and officials at the FBI.”
Ms. Anderson: “It was probably slightly more 
than 10.”

The Role of Lisa Page
Lisa Page’s unusual position as special counsel 
has been highlighted during several testimo-
nies, including those of Baker and Priestap. 
Anderson disclosed that, technically, Page 
reported directly to her, but “the supervision 
was less clear. She reported directly to Andy 
McCabe as a result of the detail arrangement 
that we had entered into.”

Page wasn’t supposed to actually provide 
legal advice to McCabe, but rather bring legal 
issues raised by McCabe to the appropriate par-
ties within the FBI’s Office of General Counsel. 
But as Anderson noted, “We didn’t have any 
written rules on it and it was a position that 
was of relatively recent creation.”

This wasn’t the first time that Page had 
served in a support capacity to McCabe:
Ms. Anderson: “She was—it depends—so she 
was—she actually served in a detail capacity 
to support him when he was Executive Assis-
tant Director overseeing the National Security 
Branch. And I believe that was the first time 
such a position had been created. And she was 
the first Special Counsel, to my knowledge, 
who came from within the FBI Office of Gen-
eral Counsel who supported the Deputy Direc-
tor. Mark Giuliano, for example, had had other 
lawyers supporting him, but, as I understand, 
they had been detailed from outside of the FBI 
from DOJ.”

There had been some debate within the FBI as 
to whether Page would hold the title of special 
assistant or the more coveted title of special 
counsel. Anderson was shown an email that 
appeared to be between two attorneys who 
reported to her. The emails appeared to be in 
regard to Page’s pending title discussions.

The first attorney noted, “I think his special 
assistant is the best option ... special is the best 
option, he’s number 2.” The responding attor-
ney agreed, stating: “Yeah, pretty demoralized 
by the whole thing. Not sure if Trisha will be 
there or not. Kind of hoping not, I can be more 
frank if she’s not.”

Anderson claimed to have no knowledge re-
garding this email despite repeated question-
ing. Page would be given the title of special 
counsel.

Anderson also corroborated reports that Page 
often circumvented the established chain of 
command, not only with McCabe, for whom 
she reportedly served as a conduit for Strzok, 
but also with Baker:
Ms. Anderson: “There were times when Lisa 
[Page] would talk directly with Jim Baker 
when I felt that she should be talking in the 
first instance directly with the attorney who 
reported to me.”

Anderson was also aware of concerns that 
Page bypassed both the executive assistant di-
rector for the National Security Branch—first 
Giacalone and then Steinbach—and Priestap, 
the head of counterintelligence:
Mr. Baker: “Did you ever hear specifically either 
Mr. Giacalone or Mr. Steinbach complain about 
the role of Lisa Page, not necessarily her role in 
what she had responsibility for, but because she 
had access to Mr. McCabe and she also would 
get information from Strzok, that those people, 
Steinbach or Giacalone and I guess Priestap to 
a certain extent, they would probably be the 
ones most affected by information not coming 
through them. Did you ever hear any one of 
them specifically complain about that?”
Ms. Anderson: “I didn’t have any—I don’t be-
lieve I heard either of them—neither of them 
personally complained to me, but I was aware 
of their concerns.”

In the summer of 2018, Anderson rejoined 
former Attorney General Eric Holder, when 
she returned to her old law firm, Covington, 
as a partner.

Jeff Carlson is a regular contributor to The 
Epoch Times. He also runs the website The-
MarketsWork.com and can be followed on 
Twitter @themarketswork.

Besides the 
investigation 
into Trump, 
Anderson also 
was involved 
in the FBI’s 
investigation of 
Hillary Clinton 
for sending 
classified 
information 
using a private 
server.

All necessary approvals, 
including up through 

and including the 
leadership of the FBI 
and the leadership of 

the Department, by the 
time I put that signature 

on the cover page had 
already been obtained.

Trisha Anderson

Testimony by FBI Lawyer 
Trisha Anderson Reveals Extensive Role in

Trump, Clinton    Investigations

Anderson signed off on 
the original application for 
a warrant to spy on former 
Trump campaign adviser 
Carter Page—before the 
application went to FBI 
Director James Comey—
despite not having read it.

Charlotte Cuthbertson/The Epoch Times
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Study Finds School Choice Works
Matthew Vadum

chool choice advocates are promoting a 
new study by the liberal Urban Institute 
that finds private K–12 schools in Florida 
produce significantly better outcomes for 
students than public schools, leading to a 
greater chance of private school students 
attending and graduating from college.

The study, which looked at the Florida 
Tax Credit (FTC) scholarship program, 
showed it generates “absolutely incredible 
results for low-income children, mostly 
of color,” said Tommy Schultz, national 
communications director for the American 
Federation for Children, America’s largest 
school choice advocacy organization.

“This study confirms it: School choice 
works,” Schultz told The Epoch Times in 
an interview.

“When you’re empowering families with 
the freedom to choose the best educational 
options for their children, they’re going 
to find the best education for each of their 
children that matches their individual 

learning styles.”
The FTC scholarship program serves 

100,000 students with an average family 
income of $24,000 per year, and 68 per-
cent of the students are black or Latino, 
according to Schultz’s group. It’s also cost-
effective: Scholarship funding represents 
just 55 percent of the dollar amount of 
per-pupil spending in the state of Florida.

The study, by Urban Institute analysts 
Matthew M. Chingos, Tomas Monarrez, 
and Daniel Kuehn, examined the FTC 
scholarship program, which gives private 
school scholarships to as many as 100,000 
low-income students each year.

Florida’s program is the largest of its kind 
in the United States. Secretary of Educa-
tion Betsy DeVos has praised the Sunshine 
State’s program, which essentially has 
been replicated in many other states, as a 
model for the nation.

“We find that FTC participants are more 
likely than similar nonparticipants to en-
roll in both two-year and four-year col-
leges, including both public and private 

nonprofit four-year colleges,” the authors 
wrote.

Students who attend private schools with 
financial assistance through the FTC schol-
arship program are as much as 99 percent 
more likely to enroll in four-year colleges 
and as much as 56 percent more likely to 
complete bachelor’s degrees than their 
public-school counterparts, according to 
the study.

Compared to their peers in public 
schools, students “who entered FTC in el-
ementary or middle school were 6 percent-
age points more likely to enroll in college, a 
12 percent increase. Students who entered 
the program in high school were 10 per-
centage points more likely to enroll, a 19 
percent increase,” the study states.

The education establishment and nation-
al teachers’ unions generally oppose school 
choice and school voucher programs. Fa-
voring school choice makes it much more 
difficult for Democratic politicians to ad-
vance their careers, because taking that 
stand alienates the party’s left-wing base.

But there is widespread hypocrisy about 
school choice of the Democratic side of the 
aisle, Schultz said.

“We find it funny that when you look at 
the last Democratic administration, the top 
leaders of the Democratic Party—President 
Barack Obama, Vice President Joe Biden, 
and House Speaker Nancy Pelosi—and what 
they all had in common was they all went 
to private K–12 schools and yet they op-
pose giving those options to all American 
families.”

He adds, “It’s hypocritical when lawmak-
ers benefit from school choice and they 
want to deny that choice to others.”

The study comes as Florida Gov. Ron De-
Santis (R), a champion of school choice, 
pushes to expand school choice through 
a newly proposed “equal opportunity” 
voucher program aimed to eliminate the 
waiting list—now at 14,000 students—for 
the scholarships.

DeSantis said Feb. 15 that Florida’s leg-
islature should approve legislation this 
spring that would create a new program 
to serve as a “supplement” to the tax credit 
program, the Orlando Sentinel reports. 
“We’ll be able to wake up in May and say, 
‘Wow, we’re taking big, bold action here 
in Florida on behalf of our schoolkids.’”

Giving scholarships to those on the wait-
ing list would cost $90 million to $100 mil-
lion, he said.

DeSantis has focused on education policy 
since he was sworn in as governor Jan. 8.

On Jan. 31, he ordered the state education 
commissioner to develop recommenda-
tions on how to remove the vestiges of the 
politically unpopular Common Core stan-
dards that remain in the state’s taxpayer-
funded school system. Among those rem-
nants is a system of standardized testing 
that has received broad, bipartisan criti-
cism from state lawmakers and teachers.

Florida Stop Common Core Coalition Ex-
ecutive Director Karen Effrem expressed 
skepticism about some of the data in the 
study, and said there is a danger that school 
choice programs will allow Common Core 
standards to find their way into private 
schools.

There is “the threat of the future imposi-
tion of ‘accountability’ requirements and 
other regulations on private schools of the 
state standardized testing regime, as in 
Indiana and Louisiana, which would mean 
the imposition of Common Core standards 
and their aligned tests. This would result 
in a choice of venue but not a choice of cur-
riculum.”

Ivan Pentchoukov

President Donald Trump called on European 
nations on Feb. 16 to repatriate and prosecute 
hundreds of the ISIS terrorist group’s fighters 
who have been captured by the United States 
and its allies in Syria.

Trump warned that the terrorists may end 
up being released as U.S. forces exit from the 
region.

“The United States is asking Britain, France, 
Germany, and other European allies to take 
back over 800 ISIS fighters that we captured 
in Syria and put them on trial. The Caliphate 
is ready to fall. The alternative is not a good 
one in that we will be forced to release them, 
“ Trump wrote on Twitter.

“The U.S. does not want to watch as these 
ISIS fighters permeate Europe, which is where 
they are expected to go,” the president contin-
ued. “We do so much, and spend so much—
Time for others to step up and do the job that 
they are so capable of doing. We are pulling 
back after 100% Caliphate victory!”

Trump ordered the withdrawal of U.S. forces 
from Syria upon the defeat of ISIS in the re-
gion. On Feb. 16, U.S.-backed forces were on 
the verge of capturing the last tiny enclave 
held by the terrorist group along the Euphrates 
River.

Jiya Furat, the commander of the U.S.-
backed forces, said Feb. 16 that ISIS was pinned 

down in a neighborhood in Baghouz Village 
near the Iraqi border, and under fire from all 
sides.

“In the coming few days, in a very short 
time, we will spread the good tidings to the 
world of the military end of [ISIS],” Furat said.

The defeat marks the end of five years of 
ISIS-fueled terror and chaos. The so-called 
caliphate started in a mosque in Mosul, Iraq, 
where Abu Bakr al-Baghdadi took advan-
tage of regional turmoil to declare himself 
the ruler, or caliph, of the Muslim people. At 

its peak, the caliphate ruled more than 2 mil-
lion people.

Thousands of people, including many citi-
zens of European nations, traveled to Syria to 
join ISIS during the conflict; hundreds have 
been captured and are held in Kurdish-run 
prisons. Once the United States pulls out of the 
region, the Kurds may not have the resources 
to safeguard the prisons, prompting calls to re-
turn the prisoners to their respective nations.

Kurdish officials have said that the prisoners’ 
family members may exceed 4,000.

Bringing ISIS fighters back to their nations 
of origin is complicated. According to Shiraz 
Maher, director of The International Centre 
for the Study of Radicalisation, there are “real 
problems with the admissibility of battlefield 
evidence” in Western courts that may hamper 
prosecutions.

“So, what happens then? These fighters 
are either repatriated and then freed; no one 
wants that. Or they’re tried on lesser charges 
with shorter tariffs and are out of jail in a rela-
tively short period. Again, this is not ideal,” 
Maher wrote on Twitter.

Meanwhile, local authorities have to solve 
the question of where to house the prisoners. 
Placing them with the general population may 
radicalize other prisoners, while setting up 
special facilities may come at great expense.

Reuters contributed to this report.

President Donald Trump in the Rose Garden at the White House on Feb. 15, 2019.

Chip Somodevilla/Getty Images

President Donald Trump at a Make America Great Again rally in El Paso, Texas, on Feb. 11, 2019. 
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Matthew Vadum

Four left-leaning environmentalist groups 
have filed federal lawsuits against the Trump 
administration, in hopes of blocking the 
president’s national emergency declaration 
that seeks to redirect $6.7 billion in already 
allocated funds to build a wall on the nation’s 
largely undefended border with Mexico.

The legal actions came as a violent protest 
broke out against the declaration not far from 
the border in Texas, as a group of states are 
contemplating filing their own lawsuits, and 
as opponents on Capitol Hill prepare lawsuits 
and ready a legislative effort to have Congress 
reverse the declaration.

Dozens of radical demonstrators took over 
and vandalized the National Border Patrol 
Museum near El Paso, Texas, on Feb. 16, the 
Washington Examiner reported.

Museum director David Ham said about 50 
unruly protesters entered the museum, de-
faced exhibits, and refused to leave. “Say it loud, 
say it clear, Border Patrol kills!” members of 
the group shouted.

Director of the Office of Management and 
Budget Mick Mulvaney said the $6.7 billion 
in wall funding consists of $600 million from 

the Treasury Department, $2.5 billion from 
the counterdrug activity fund under the De-
partment of Defense, and $3.6 billion from the 
military construction budget.

President Donald Trump invoked the Na-
tional Emergencies Act on Feb. 15 as Congress 
gave final approval to the 1,169-page, $333 
billion omnibus spending bill that funds the 
government through the federal fiscal year-end 
of Sept. 30.

The fiscal measure, 
which Trump signed 
into law after saying he 
was “not thrilled” with 
it, contains $1.375 bil-
lion for 55 miles of bor-
der barriers in the Rio 
Grande Valley in Texas, 
which is separate from 
the $6.7 billion gener-
ated by the emergency 
declaration. The $1.375 
billion is less than the 
$5.7 billion the president sought for a border 
wall. The $5.7 billion request itself is a frac-
tion of the $25 billion Trump originally said 
he wanted.

There is no guarantee those 55 miles will ac-
tually be built. The legislative language stipu-
lates that “prior to use of any funds made avail-
able by this Act for the construction of physical 

barriers,” the Department of Homeland Secu-
rity “shall confer and seek to reach agreement 
regarding the design and alignment of physical 
barriers within that city.” Local officials in the 
liberal border counties in the Rio Grande Val-
ley are known to be hostile to building a wall.

The legal actions come as California and 
about a dozen other states are reportedly pre-
paring to sue the federal government to stop the 

wall, the president’s 
signature campaign 
promise.

Public Citizen, a non-
profit founded by con-
sumer advocate Ralph 
Nader, filed a lawsuit 
Feb. 15 seeking to in-
validate the president’s 
proclamation issued 
under the National 
Emergencies Act, on 
behalf of the Frontera 
Audubon Society of 

Weslaco, Texas, a nonprofit organization, and 
three Texas landowners.

The nonprofit claims in the legal complaint 
that its “members’ ability to observe wildlife 
will be impaired by the construction of a border 
wall and the resulting destruction of critical 
habitat.”

Joined by the Center for Biological Diversity 

and Animal Legal Defense Fund, Defenders of 
Wildlife filed suit Feb. 16 seeking to void the 
president’s emergency declaration.

The suit claims Trump’s declaration usurps 
Congress’s constitutionally provided power 
of the purse and poses a threat to “biological 
diversity preservation.”

It also states that the construction of the 
wall would endanger “rare wildlife habitat 
and specific species” such as the jaguar, oce-
lot, peninsular bighorn sheep, and the Quino 
checkerspot butterfly.

Citizens for Responsibility and Ethics in 
Washington (CREW) filed a lawsuit Feb. 15 that 
seeks to compel the Department of Justice to 
comply with its request under the Freedom of 
Information Act for legal opinions produced 
by its Office of Legal Counsel “that discuss the 
power of the president to invoke emergency 
powers to build a wall or other type of barrier 
along the U.S. border with Mexico.”

All three lawsuits were filed in the U.S. Dis-
trict Court for the District of Columbia.

California Gov. Gavin Newsom, a Democrat, 
said his state would file legal proceedings to 
halt the wall planned for a thousand miles 
away in Texas. “Our message back to the White 
House is simple and clear: California will see 
you in court,” he said.

“If filed, the lawsuit would mark the state’s 
46th legal challenge to Trump administration 
policies,” the Sacramento Bee reports.

Xavier Becerra, attorney general for Cali-
fornia, said Feb. 17 his state is working with 
“sister state partners” to “imminently” bring 
a lawsuit. “It’s become clear that this is not an 
emergency,” said Becerra, also a Democrat.

In Congress, House Armed Services Com-
mittee Chairman Adam Smith (D-Wash.) and 
other Democratic lawmakers are considering 
suing to halt the declaration.

New York, Washington state, and El Paso 
County, Texas, say they, too, will litigate. So 
will the Niskanen Center, a left-wing think 
tank, and the Border Network for Human 
Rights, a Texas-based group that says it advo-
cates for “marginalized border communities.”

Pence Urges Unwilling Europeans 
to Back Iran Sanctions, Quit Iran Nuclear Deal

The time has come 
for our European 
partners to stop 

undermining U.S. 
sanctions against 
this murderous 

revolutionary regime.
Vice President Mike Pence, at the 

Munich Security Conference
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esVice President Michael Pence 

gives a speech during the 
annual Munich Security Con-
ference in Munich, Germany, 

on Feb. 16, 2019. 
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A U.S. Customs and Bor-
der Protection boat patrols 

the Rio Grande at Eagle Pass, 
Texas, on Feb. 16, 2019.
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Illegal border crossers are 
taken to a Border Patrol van 

after they crossed the Rio 
Grande from Mexico into 

Eagle Pass, Texas, on Feb. 16, 
2019.

Petr Svab

ice President Mike Pence called on European 
nations on Feb. 16 to support U.S. sanctions on 
Iran and to withdraw from the Iran nuclear 
deal.

Yet major European players—prominently 
France, Germany, and Britain—appear un-
willing to heed the call amid Europe’s finan-
cial entanglements with Iran.

After visiting the site of the Nazi Auschwitz 
concentration camp in Poland during his trip, 
Pence framed Iran’s rhetoric and actions in 
terms of anti-Semitism.

“When authoritarian regimes breathe 
out vile, anti-Semitic hatred and threats of 
violence, we must take them at their word,” 
he said in his Munich Security Conference 
speech. “The Iranian regime openly advocates 
another Holocaust and it seeks the means to 
achieve it.”

Backing the position of President Don-
ald Trump, Pence called Iran “the greatest 
threat to peace and security in the Middle 
East,” pointing to its sponsorship of terrorist 
groups such as Hamas and Hezbollah, as well 
as extremists in Syria and Yemen.

Troubled Deal
Trump announced the United States’ with-
drawal from the Iran nuclear deal in May 2018 
and ordered the reimposing of sanctions.

The deal was signed in 2015 by the Obama 
administration along with Russia, China, the 
United Kingdom, France, and Germany. It 
required Iran to delay its capacity to build a 

nuclear weapon until 2026 in exchange for 
sanctions relief.

Trump had criticized the deal for ask-
ing too little of Iran, such as not addressing 
Iran’s ballistic missile program, its financ-
ing of terrorists, and more. Evidence has 
also emerged that Iran negotiated the deal 
in bad faith.

In April 2018, Israeli Prime Minister Ben-
jamin Netanyahu presented what he said 
were Iranian documents obtained by Israeli 
intelligence that proved Iran’s development 
of nuclear weapons before the 2015 deal, 
while the regime claimed its nuclear pro-
gram didn’t seek to build arms.

Moreover, Ali Akbar Salehi, the head of 
Iran’s atomic agency, said Jan. 22 that the 
regime secretly bought components for its 
heavy water reactor near Arak, a critical 
component in the production of weapons-
grade plutonium, even though the nuclear 
deal required the regime to disable it.

Iran’s belligerent behavior was supposed 
to fade away with the nuclear deal, offi-
cially called the Joint Comprehensive Plan 
of Action.

Instead, Iran announced in 2017 an intent 
to boost its military spending by 150 per-
cent in five years. In recent weeks, it has 
tested a cruise missile, unveiled a cruise 
missile-armed submarine, boasted the 
capability to quickly restart uranium en-
richment, and twice attempted to launch 
satellites, which use technology similar to 
intercontinental ballistic missiles. Both at-
tempts failed.

EU Holding On
Pence called on European nations to abandon 
the Iran deal and join the United States in 
pressuring the Islamic regime.

“The time has come for our European 
partners to stop undermining U.S. sanc-
tions against this murderous revolutionary 
regime. The time has come for our European 
partners to stand with us and with the Ira-
nian people, our allies and friends in the 
region,” he said. “The time has come for our 
European partners to withdraw from the 
Iran nuclear deal and join us as we bring the 
economic and diplomatic pressure necessary 
to give the Iranian people, the region, and 
the world the peace, security, and freedom 
they deserve.”

But the United Kingdom, France, and Ger-
many continue to voice their commitment to 
the deal and have even set up a joint company 
with the aim of facilitating goods bartering 
between European and Iranian companies 
without the use of currency, thus dodging the 
U.S. sanctions. Yet the company is planned 
to initially only handle trade in food and 
medical supplies, which aren’t targeted by 
the sanctions.

Europe has been much more deeply involved 
in trading with Iran than the United States. 
After the sanctions were lifted in 2015, Euro-
pean trade with Iran nearly tripled, reaching 
$25 billion in 2017, according to Statista.

Trade between the United States and Iran, 
on the other hand, ranged between $200 mil-
lion and $300 million a year.

National Emergency 
Declaration Begin

Legal Actions to Stop

Our message back to the 
White House is simple and 

clear: California will see 
you in court.

 Gavin Newsom,
California governor

V

S

Florida Gov. Ron DeSantis at Florida International University in Miami on Feb. 18, 2019.  

Joe Raedle/Getty Images

Trump Calls on
European Allies to Take Back 

Captured ISIS Terrorists
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President Donald Trump and First Lady Melania Trump deliver remarks to the Venezuelan-American community at Florida International University Ocean Bank Convocation Center in Miami on Feb. 18, 2019.

Jim Watson/AFP

Today I ask 
every member 
of the Maduro 

regime. End this 
nightmare of 

poverty, hunger 
and death for 

your people. Let 
your people go. 

Set your country 
free. 

President Donald Trump 

President Trump: 
‘The Days of Socialism and 

Communism Are Numbered’

McCabe’s Troubles Run Much Deeper 
Than ‘60 Minutes’ Interview Suggests

In landmark speech on Venezuela, Trump says 
‘the twilight hour of socialism has arrived’ around the world

Bowen Xiao & Ivan Pentchoukov

By supporting a peaceful regime change in 
Venezuela, the United States has paved the 
way toward purging South America of social-
ism and creating the first fully democratic 
Western Hemisphere in history, President 
Donald Trump said in a speech in Florida on 
Feb. 18.

Trump, a critic of socialism and commu-
nism, told the Venezuelan community in 
Florida that recent changes in South and 
Central America suggest that the path toward 
democracy on the two continents is irrevers-
ible. The president pledged the support of the 
United States to Venezuelans who “are stand-
ing for freedom and Democracy.”

“We’re here to proclaim a new day is coming 
in Latin America,” Trump said. “In Venezuela 
and across the Western Hemisphere socialism 
is dying and liberty, prosperity, and Democ-
racy are being reborn.”

The president reiterated his support for 
Venezuela’s interim President Juan Guaidó. 
Trump was the first world leader to recognize 
Guaidó as the legitimate leader of the South 
American nation. Guaidó assumed the posi-
tion of interim president shortly after the Ven-
ezuelan National Assembly declared socialist 
dictator Nicolas Maduro as “illegitimate.”

Trump told the crowd that Venezuela should 
cease to be a puppet state of the communist 
regime in Cuba. Nearly 92,700 Cuban commu-
nist proxies work in Venezuela’s government 
apparatus, according to the Congressional 
testimony by a retired Venezuelan military of-
ficial. Senior U.S. administration officials have 
said that Venezuela is being propped up by the 
communists in Cuba. White House Director of 
Strategic Communications Mercedes Schlapp 
told Fox News on Feb. 18 that Cuba has sent 
more than 20,000 security force personnel 
to Venezuela.

“Maduro is not a Venezuelan patriot. He is a 
Cuban puppet. That’s what he is,” the presi-
dent said.

“For decades the socialist dictatorships of 
Cuba and Venezuela have propped each other 
up in a very corrupt bargain. Venezuela gave 
Cuba oil. In return, Cuba gave Venezuela a 
police state run directly from Havana. But 
this is a much different day and those days 

are over.”
Successful and peaceful regime change in 

Venezuela would spark change and promote 
democracy in Cuba and Nicaragua, Trump 
told the crowd. In 2018, the Trump adminis-
tration dubbed Venezuela, Cuba, and Nicara-
gua the “troika of tyranny.” In November 2018, 
National Security advisor John Bolton said 
that the socialist dictatorships in the three 
nations are the “genesis of a sordid cradle of 
communism in the Western Hemisphere.”

Trump’s comments on Feb. 18 are the latest 
in an intense campaign of tightening sanc-
tions and bold rhetoric which started early in 
his presidency. Although the Trump admin-
istration took steps to counter human rights 
abuses in Cuba and Nicaragua, the bulk of 
the pressure from the White House has so far 
fallen on Venezuela. Trump’s comments sug-
gest that Washington hopes that Caracas will 
be the first domino in a chain reaction akin to 
the fall of communism in Europe decades ago.

“The twilight hour of socialism has arrived 
in our hemisphere and, frankly, in many 
many places around the world,” Trump said. 
“The days of socialism and communism are 
numbered not only in Venezuela but in Nica-
ragua and in Cuba as well.”

During his presidential campaign, Trump 
did not focus on the threat of socialism and 
communism to the United States and the 
world. But, since taking office, the president 
has made the fight against socialism and com-
munism a key part of his agenda. At this year’s 
State of the Union speech, he said that “Amer-
ica will never become a socialist country.”

Trump has also lambasted communism and 
socialism on the world stage. The president 
told the United Nations in September 2017 
that “anguish and devastation and failure” 
followed wherever these ideologies were 
adopted. In November 2017, Trump told the 
National Assembly in South Korea that com-
munism is to blame for the contrast between 
the desolation and famine in North Korea and 
progress and prosperity in South Korea.

Once an oil-rich nation Venezuela has been 
crippled by the socialist policies implemented 
by Maduro and his predecessor. Almost 90 
percent of Venezuela’s population live below 
the poverty line and more than half of fami-
lies are unable to meet their basic food needs, 

according to Mercy Corps, a humanitarian 
group. The U.N. estimates that by the end of 
2019, 5.3 million refugees and migrants will 
have fled the socialist regime in Venezuela.

“Socialism has so completely ravaged this 
great country that even the world’s largest 
reserves of oil are no longer enough to keep 
the lights on. This will never happen to us,” 
Trump said as the crowd cheered in response.

“Socialism promises prosperity but it de-
livers poverty. Socialism promises unity but 
it delivers hatred and ... division. Socialism 
promises a better future but it always returns 
to the darkest chapters of the past,” he added. 
“That never fails. It always happens.”

Guaidó’s ascendance triggered a global ref-
erendum on socialism. Maduro received rec-
ognition from current and former communist 
nations like China, North Korea, Cuba, and 
Russia. Meanwhile, more than 50 free-world 
nations—including the United States, Ger-
many, and Australia—backed Guaidó.

Message to the Military
The United States is aware of the whereabouts 
of the wealth hidden abroad by military of-
ficials and their families, Trump said. Ven-
ezuelan military officials have a choice, he 
said: work toward democracy for the future 
of their families, or stand to lose their wealth.

“If you choose this path,” Trump said, warn-
ing Maduro’s backers, “you will find no safe 
harbor, no easy exit and no way out. You will 
lose everything.”

Two high-ranking military officials have 
already defected from Maduro’s regime: 
Jose Luis Silva, Venezuela’s defense attache 
to Washington and Gen. Francisco Yanez, a 
high-ranking Venezuelan air force general. 
Guaidó, in the meantime, has promised am-
nesty for military forces who defect.

The Trump administration previously said 
they were contemplating whether to lift sanc-
tions on military members 
who side with Guaidó. One 
U.S. official said the United 
States is directly communi-
cating with members of Ven-
ezuela’s military and urging 
them to defect, although the 
official noted that such dis-
cussions were “very, very 

limited.”
Venezuelan military officials have contin-

ued to remain loyal to Maduro, largely because 
of the wealth they have gained from corrup-
tion, drug trafficking, and revenues from the 
petroleum trade. A U.S. admiral said at a re-
cent Senate Armed Services Committee that 
Venezuela has about 2,000 generals.

“Today I ask every member of the Maduro 
regime. End this nightmare of poverty, hun-
ger, and death. Let your people go. Set your 
country free,” Trump said.

Humanitarian Aid
Maduro has continued to refuse to allow hu-
manitarian aid into Venezuela, which has 
been piling up in the Colombian border city of 
Cúcuta. On Feb. 16, three U.S. military cargo 
planes landed in Cúcuta carrying 180 tons 
of humanitarian aid—it was the second such 
shipment from the United States.

“He would rather see his people starve than 
give them aid,” Trump said.

The heavily guarded warehouse in Cúcuta 
is one of three points from where an at-
tempt will be made on Feb. 23 to deliver the 
aid into Venezuela; Guaidó hopes that will 
drive a wedge between Maduro and military 
forces who continue to support him, despite 
popular discontent. The United States has 
pledged $20 million to alleviate the suffer-
ing in Venezuela.

The other two locations are Roraima in 
northern Brazil, and the Dutch Caribbean 
island of Curacao. When the day comes, mili-
tary figures will face the choice of disobeying 
Maduro’s orders and letting the much-needed 
supplies into the country, or remain loyal to 
him and block the aid’s entry, potentially 
sparking a confrontation with crowds des-
perate for food and medicine.

Maduro claims the decline of his country is a 
result of U.S.-imposed sanctions and that Ven-

ezuelans “are not beggars.” 
His regime placed an oil 
tanker and shipping crates 
on Feb. 6 to barricade a 
bridge that was intended to 
be used to deliver the aid, 
sparking an international 
standoff about Venezuela 
at the border.

Jeff Carlson

ormer FBI Deputy Director Andrew Mc-
Cabe’s interview with Scott Pelley of CBS’s 
“60 Minutes” aired on Feb. 15.

McCabe played a pivotal role in what has 
become known as Spygate. He directed the 
activities of FBI agent Peter Strzok and FBI 
lawyer Lisa Page, provided an early approval 
of the Foreign Intelligence Surveillance Act 
(FISA) application on former Trump cam-
paign adviser Carter Page, and was involved 
in all aspects of the Russia investigation. He 
was also mentioned in the now-infamous 
“insurance policy” text message sent by 
Strzok to Lisa Page.

Notably missing from the “60 Minutes” in-
terview was any mention of these and other 
critical components regarding McCabe’s in-
volvement in the investigation into alleged 
Trump–Russia collusion. Specifically, there 
were no questions asked regarding the fol-
lowing:

• McCabe’s ongoing criminal investigation 
before a grand jury

• The role of FBI agent Peter Strzok and FBI 
attorney Lisa Page, who was special counsel 
to McCabe

• The use of the so-called Steele dossier as 
the primary piece of evidence in the Page 
FISA application, despite the fact that the 
information was paid for by Hillary Clinton’s 
2016 presidential campaign

• The infamous “insurance policy” text, 
which references a meeting held in McCabe’s 
office between McCabe, Strzok, and Page

• The role of Justice Department (DOJ) of-
ficial Bruce Ohr, who provided information 
from former British spy Christopher Steele 
to McCabe and the FBI

• The FBI’s sudden attempts at re-engage-
ment with Steele in the days immediately 
following the firing of FBI Director James 
Comey

• The criminal leak investigation into for-
mer FBI General Counsel James Baker

McCabe claimed he was fired “because I 
opened a case against the president of the 
United States.”

This is patently untrue. McCabe was fired 
on March 16, 2018, for lying to both the FBI’s 
Office of Professional Responsibility (OPR) 
and to the DOJ’s inspector general. According 
to DOJ Inspector General Michael Horowitz, 
McCabe lied three times under oath—and also 
lied to then-FBI Director James Comey—re-
garding his authorization of leaks to The Wall 
Street Journal.

On May 9, 2017, Deputy Attorney General 
Rod Rosenstein wrote a memo to then-At-
torney General Jeff Sessions, recommend-
ing that Comey be fired. The subject of the 
letter was “Restoring Public Confidence in 
the FBI.” Nowhere in the letter is the Russia 
investigation mentioned. Comey would be 
fired that day.

That same day, McCabe was being in-
terviewed by agents from the FBI’s In-
spection Division (INSD) regarding media 
leaks that occurred in an Oct. 30, 2016, 
Wall Street Journal article, “FBI in Inter-
nal Feud Over Hillary Clinton Probe,” by 
Devlin Barrett.

McCabe would lie to INSD agents regarding 
his participation in the leaks, as later dis-
closed in a report by the inspector general. 
He is currently the subject of a grand jury 
investigation.

In the process of uncovering McCabe’s 
deception, the IG also would discover the 
massive series of text messages sent between 
Strzok and Lisa Page. McCabe had specifi-
cally denied to the IG that he provided Page, 
his special counsel, permission to leak to 
Barrett. This was untrue, as McCabe had di-
rectly authorized Page to share information 
with Barrett–and Page did so thinking she 
had been granted legal/official authorization 
to do so.

Page, when confronted by the IG with Mc-
Cabe’s denials, produced texts refuting the 
deputy FBI director’s claim.

The FBI’s Office of Professional Responsi-
bility made the recommendation to fire Mc-
Cabe, but it was Rosenstein who fast-tracked 
McCabe’s firing process. According to the 
FBI’s OPR, the bureau would have been un-
able to reach a formal resolution before Mc-
Cabe’s retirement on March 18, 2018, with-
out intervention from the deputy attorney 
general.

McCabe responded to his firing with a 
statement that contained the claim that 
Comey had been aware of McCabe’s leaks 
to Barrett:

“The OIG investigation has focused on in-
formation I chose to share with a reporter 
through my public affairs officer and a legal 
counselor. As Deputy Director, I was one of 
only a few people who had the authority to 
do that. It was not a secret, it took place over 
several days, and others, including the Di-
rector, were aware of the interaction with 
the reporter.”

But there was a problem with McCabe’s 
response. On May 3, 2017, Comey testified 
before the Senate Judiciary Committee:
Sen. Grassley: “Director Comey, have you 
ever been an anonymous source in news re-
ports about matters relating to the Trump 
investigation or the Clinton investigation?”
Mr. Comey: “Never.”
Sen. Grassley: “Question two, relatively re-
lated, have you ever authorized someone else 
at the FBI to be an anonymous source in news 
reports about the Trump investigation or the 
Clinton investigation?”
Mr. Comey: “No.”
Comey’s testimony directly disputed Mc-
Cabe’s claims.

During the “60 Minutes” interview, Mc-
Cabe referenced his memos detailing his 
interactions with President Donald Trump 
at several points. McCabe, however, had al-
ready discussed these interactions during a 
congressional hearing regarding the FBI’s 
2018 fiscal budget on June 21, 2017, where 
he testified that all his meetings with the 
president occurred with many other wit-
nesses in attendance:

“I have met with President Trump on very 
few occasions, and those have all been occa-
sions where there were many other people 
present. I have not felt uncomfortable in 
those meetings.”

Rosenstein’s Appointment of Mueller
On the morning of May 16, 2017, Rosenstein 
allegedly suggested to McCabe that he secret-
ly record Trump. This remark was reported 
in a New York Times article that was sourced 
from memos from the now-fired McCabe. 
Rosenstein immediately issued a statement 
denying the accusations.

The alleged comments by Rosenstein oc-
curred at a meeting where McCabe was 

“pushing for the Justice Department to open 
an investigation into the president.” Note that 
just five days earlier, on May 11, McCabe had 
publicly testified before Congress that there 
was no obstruction, stating, “There has been 
no effort to impede our investigation to date.”
Sen. Rubio: “Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Mr. 
McCabe, can you without going into the spe-
cifics of any individual investigation, I think 
the American people want to know, has the 
dismissal of Mr. Comey in any way impeded, 
interrupted, stopped or negatively impacted 
any of the work, any investigation, or any 
ongoing projects at the Federal Bureau of 
Investigations?”
Mr. McCabe: “As you know, Senator, the work 
of the men and women of the FBI continues 
despite any changes in circumstance, any 
decisions. So there has been no effort to im-
pede our investigation today. Quite simply 
put sir, you cannot stop the men and women 
of the FBI from doing the right thing, protect-
ing the American people, and upholding the 
Constitution.”

On the one hand, McCabe testified there 
was no obstruction from Trump, yet, just 
five days later, McCabe was attempting to 
convince Rosenstein to go along with his 
efforts to open an obstruction investigation 
into the president. Events suggest that Mc-
Cabe’s efforts were met with alarm from 
Rosenstein, who responded by appointing 
Mueller as special counsel. Rosenstein may 
have also informed Trump of McCabe’s in-
tentions.

At the same time that McCabe was attempt-
ing to open an obstruction investigation, 
Strzok and Page were texting about the lack 
of evidence of collusion. In a text that Strzok 
sent to Page, Strzok noted:

“You and I both know the odds are noth-
ing. If I thought it was likely, I’d be there, no 
question. I hesitate, in part, because of my gut 
sense and concern there’s no big there there.”

Page was asked about this text during her 
July 2018 testimony by Rep. John Ratcliffe 
(R-Texas). She initially answered, “So I think 
this represents that even as far as May of 2017, 
we still couldn’t answer the question.” After 
a brief consultation with her legal counsel, 
Page continued: “I think it’s a reflection of 
us still not knowing. I guess that’s as good 
as I can answer.”

On May 17, 2017, the day after Rosenstein 
and Trump met privately with Robert Muel-
ler in the Oval Office at the White House—and 
the day after Rosenstein’s encounter with 
McCabe—Rosenstein appointed Mueller as 
special counsel.

The May 17 appointment of Mueller shifted 
control of the Russia investigation to Mueller 
from the FBI and McCabe. Rosenstein would 
retain ultimate authority over the special 
counsel investigation, and any expansion 
of Mueller’s probe required authorization 
from Rosenstein.

In advance of McCabe’s “60 Minutes” inter-
view, a spokesperson for the Department of 
Justice released a statement that confirmed 
exactly this—Rosenstein’s actions removed 
McCabe from the Russia collusion investi-
gation:

“The Deputy Attorney General, in fact, 
appointed Special Counsel Mueller, and di-
rected that Mr. McCabe be removed from any 
participation in that investigation.”

Testimony from former FBI General Coun-
sel James Baker has been cited as corroborat-
ing McCabe’s version of events, but just like 
the FBI’s use of an article by Yahoo News’ 
Michael Isikoff to corroborate the Steele dos-
sier, Baker’s testimony represented nothing 
more than circular reporting.
Rep. Meadows: “Were you in the meeting 
when deputy AG Rod Rosenstein suggested to 
wiretap or record the President of the United 
States as has been recently reported allegedly 
in the McCabe memos?”
Mr. Baker: “I was not at those meetings, but 
I heard about those meetings.”
Rep. Meadows: “And how did you hear about 
those meetings?”
Mr. Baker: “I heard about them, I believe, 
from Andy and from Lisa.”

Meanwhile, it appears that McCabe decided 
it might be best to distance himself from his 
reported comments regarding discussions of 
the 25th Amendment.

On Feb. 15, McCabe’s spokeswoman, Melis-
sa Schwartz, issued the following statement:

“Certain statements made by Mr. McCabe, 
in interviews associated with the release of 
his book, have been taken out of context and 
misrepresented. To clarify, at no time did Mr. 
McCabe participate in any extended discus-
sions about the use of the 25th Amendment, 
nor is he aware of any such discussions. He 
was present and participated in a discus-
sion that included a comment by Deputy 
Attorney General Rosenstein regarding the 
25th Amendment. This anecdote was not 
included in ‘The Threat,’ Mr. McCabe has 
merely confirmed a discussion that was ini-
tially reported elsewhere.”

Screenshot via CBS

According to 
DOJ Inspector 
General Michael 
Horowitz, 
McCabe lied 
three times 
under oath, 
and also lied 
to then-FBI 
Director James 
Comey.

F

Former FBI Deputy Director 
Andrew McCabe in an inter-

view with CBS’s “60 Min-
utes.”
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Rep. Alexandria Ocasio-Cortez (D-N.Y.) and Sen. Ed Markey (D-Mass.) during a press conference to announce Green New Deal legislation out-
side the Capitol on Feb. 7, 2019.
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Diana West

Early in 2018, Franklin Foer pub-
lished a cover story in The Atlantic 

titled “The Plot Against America: 
Paul Manafort and the Fall of 
Washington.” I think he inadver-
tently stumbled onto something.
Several points popped out that I 

can’t stop thinking about, especially 
now that Manafort is back in the special 
counsel’s crosshairs, and potentially faces 
a prison sentence that could well be a death 
sentence for the 69-year-old. They made 
me wonder then and they make me wonder 
now: Was the introduction of Manafort into 
the Trump campaign itself a “plot against 
America?”

The Foer article opens with a shocking se-
quence about Manafort’s time under medical 
care in 2015:

“The clinic permitted Paul Manafort one 
10-minute call each day. And each day, he 
would use it to ring his wife from Arizona, 
his voice often soaked in tears. ‘Apparently 
he sobs daily,’ his daughter Andrea, then 29, 
texted a friend. During the spring of 2015, 
Manafort’s life had tipped into a deep trough. 
A few months earlier, he had intimated to his 
other daughter, Jessica, that suicide was a 
possibility. He would ‘be gone forever,’ she 
texted Andrea.”

On March 29, 2016, less than one year af-
ter sinking to these dark depths, Manafort 
joined the Trump campaign as convention 
floor manager. He became chairman of the 
campaign on May 19, 2016.

What follows are the salient points from 
the Foer piece in chronological order.

•	 In the spring of 2014, Viktor Yanukovych, 
Manafort’s main meal ticket for nearly a 
decade, was forced from the presidency 
of Ukraine. “Fearing for his life,” Yanu-
kovych fled to Russia. Manafort “avoided 
any harm by keeping a careful distance 
from the enflamed city.”

•	 After Yanukovych was overthrown, 
Manafort suddenly had career prob-
lems. “Money, which had always flowed 
freely to Manafort and which he’d spent 
more freely still, soon became a problem. 
... He seemed unwilling, or perhaps un-
able, to access his offshore accounts; an 
FBI investigation scrutinizing his work 
in Ukraine had begun not long after Ya-
nukovych’s fall. Meanwhile, a Russian 
oligarch named Oleg Deripaska had been 
after Manafort to explain what had hap-
pened to an $18.9 million investment in 
a Ukrainian company that Manafort had 
claimed to have made on his behalf.”

•	 Manafort had domestic problems, too. 
In November 2014, Manafort’s wife and 
grown daughters discovered he was con-
ducting an extremely expensive extra-

marital affair. Despite pledges and couples 
counseling, he continued the affair, which 
came to light again six months later.

•	  According to daughter Andrea’s text, 
Manafort was by this time in “the middle 
of a massive emotional breakdown.” Foer 
wrote that Manafort entered a “clinic” in 
Arizona six months after the initial discov-
ery of the affair in November 2014, which 
places his entry time around May 2015.

•	 At the “clinic,” Manafort was allotted the 
daily 10-minute phone call to his wife—“in 
tears” and possibly suicidal.

Foer didn’t tell us when Manafort left 
the clinic. He backed into 
Manafort’s departure 
in the context of 
the newly 
dis-

charged 
patient’s re-
portedly desper-
ate effort to gain access 
to Donald Trump.

He opened the section this 
way: “’I really need to get to’ 
Trump, Manafort told an old 
friend, the real-estate mag-
nate Tom Barrack, in the 
early months of 2016.”

Foer didn’t get more specific about the date 
of this conversation; however, the distinctive 
quotation, “I really need to get to,” has its 
provenance in a Washington Post piece based 
on interviews with Barrack, who dated his 
conversation with Manafort as shortly after 
the Iowa caucuses, which were Feb. 1, 2016.

“Barrack, a confidante of Trump for some 
40 years, had known Manafort even longer. 
When Manafort asked for Barrack’s help 

grabbing Trump’s attention, he readily sup-
plied it. Manafort’s spell in the Arizona clinic 
had ended,” wrote Foer.

All of this is more than strange.
First, about Thomas Barrack Jr., an Ameri-

can billionaire of Syrian extraction. As an 
Arabic-speaking lawyer in 1972, the Wash-
ington Post reported, Barrack played some 
squash with a set of Saudi princes and thus 
became “the American representative of 
‘the boys.’ “  There was no word on whether 
Barrack had registered as a Saudi agent for 
this work for the Saudi family dictatorship. 
“Barrack spent many hours listening to the 
Arabs discuss their world, which he said gave 

him ‘great respect for the so-
ciety and community,’ “ 

the Post continued.
It sounds as 

if Barrack’s 
“respect” 

paid off. In 
1979, he bought 

a California ranch 
“just down a hill from 

Ronald Reagan’s Rancho del 
Cielo.” (Quelle coincidence!) 
The Post continued:  “The 
Secret Service later boarded 
horses at Barrack’s ranch, and 
he occasionally went on trail 
rides and sat around camp-

fires with Reagan. ‘I loved him,’ Barrack said 
of Reagan.”

That’s beautiful. Anyway, back to Manafort. 
It’s early 2016. Manafort has debts, he has a 
Putin-linked-oligarch looking for that $19 
million he “invested,” his family life is chaos, 
and what does he do? He calls up Barrack 
after Iowa and says: “ ‘I really need to get 
to’ Trump.”

The Post story explained the Manafort–

Trump connection differently.
The story said Manafort and Barrack go 

back 40 years to Barrack’s Saudi princes days. 
They met in Beirut when Manafort “repre-
sented a firm doing business with a Saudi 
construction company.” Barrack has known 
Trump for nearly as long, and depicts himself 
as a huge loyalist—although he is also openly 
horrified about Trump’s politics, including 
his signature issues of immigration and the 
Muslim ban.

Gee, something isn’t quite adding up here ...
According to the Post: “Barrack supported 

Trump’s campaign, and shortly after Trump 
lost the Iowa caucuses,he [Barrack] recon-
nected with his old friend Manafort, a long-
time Republican consultant.”

Barrack “reconnected” with Manafort? The 
Atlantic had it the other way around.

In any case, it’s February 2016 and the two 
men are talking. At this earliest stage of the 
primary season, Manafort supposedly tells 
Barrack he wants to work as “Trump’s con-
vention manager” now that Trump has lost 
the Iowa caucuses. Does that make sense? 
I’ll bet Deripaska’s $19 million this is not the 
way that initial conversation went. Maybe it 
went more like this: You really need to get to 
Trump, and here’s how we’re gonna do it ...

According to the Post, Barrack next 
emailed Ivanka and Jared Kushner—whom 
Barrack had assisted financially with Kush-
ner’s albatross building, 666 Fifth Avenue, 
naturally—to urge Trump to hire Manafort.

The Atlantic did not report this intervention 
by Barrack. Instead, the Trump connection 
was almost entirely Manafort’s doing as a 
matter of his professional salvation. Foer 
wrote: “With the arrival of Donald Trump, 
Manafort smelled an opportunity to regain 
his losses, and to return to relevance.”

Sorry to say so, but this sounds as absurd 
as Barrack’s claim that Manafort told him 
he wanted to be “convention floor manag-
er” right after Trump lost Iowa. In the early 
months of 2016 and right up to election night, 
Trump was the political equivalent of the 
bubonic plague, refrigerator mold, and Hitler 
in the eyes of all Washington, including every 
member of the GOP establishment whom 
Manafort had ever billed or hoped to—all of 
whom were endlessly predicting Trump’s 
elimination and epic loss in a historic land-
slide.

Any political professional even contem-
plating a stint on the Trump campaign was 
immediately threatened with shaming, ex-
communication, ostracism, financial ruin, 
purging, even “epuration sauvage.” Thus, it 
seems highly unlikely that Manafort would 
look at Trump and see a meal ticket to big 
time.

According to Foer, financially flailing Man-
fort then offered his services to Trump “free 
of charge”—nine long months before Election 
Day—to seem like a “near-equal.”

In the Post piece, Barrack is the author of 
an email he sent to Ivanka and Kushner that 
urged the campaign to hire Manafort. In the 
Atlantic piece, Barrack’s role was no more 
than conduit of a “memo” Manafort wrote 
to the Trump team.

The Manafort message? According to Foer, 
“Barrack forwarded to Trump’s team a memo 
Manafort had written ... [told] Trump that 
he had ‘avoided the political establishment 
in Washington since 2005,’ and [described] 
himself as a lifelong enemy of Karl Rove. ...”

Hook, line, and sinker, it would seem.
The instigating role of former Saudi “repre-

sentative” Barrack in the hiring of Manafort 
is absent from the Atlantic piece; however, 
it brought to light information that might 
explain why Manafort was tapped for deliv-
ery to Team Trump in the first place: In his 
broken state of mind and career, Manafort 
was the perfect vehicle for someone else to 
crash the campaign.

To put it another way, after Manafort’s 2014 
financial smash and 2015 breakdown, this 
once high-priced Igor to Global Crookdom 
was shattered goods—humanly, financially, 
politically, and legally. He was a walking time 
bomb for any of Trump’s political enemies to 
maneuver into the Trump camp and then 
wait for Manafort’s toxic life story to explode 
all over Trump.

If this was the case, who set the trap?

Diana West is an award-winning journal-
ist and the author of two books: “Ameri-
can Betrayal: The Secret Assault on Our 
Nation’s Character” and “The Death of 
the Grown-Up: How America’s Arrested 
Development Is Bringing Down Western 
Civilization.”

Views expressed in this article are the 
opinions of the author and do not neces-
sarily reflect the views of The Epoch Times.

The 

Green New Deal: 
Welcome to a Command Economy

Mark Hendrickson

The late, great Austrian economist 
Ludwig von Mises posited three cate-
gories of economies: “unhampered,” 
the capitalist ideal of a laissez-faire, 
private property order; “hampered,” 

a fundamentally market-based econ-
omy overlaid with considerable gov-

ernment intervention and redistribution 
of wealth; and “command,” meaning that 
the market economy has been obliterated 
and government has taken over the primary 
means of production.

As explained to me by my late mentor, 
Dr. Hans Sennholz (who grew up in Nazi 
Germany, later earned his doctorate in 
economics under Mises’ guidance at NYU, 
and became a tireless advocate for free 
markets), the command economy can be 
fascist or socialist. The primary difference 
is that under fascism, businesses remain 
nominally private, whereas under social-
ism, the state formally takes ownership. 
Under either variant, the state controls and 
mandates what and how much is produced, 
what wages to pay, what prices to charge, 
what suppliers are used, and so on.

With the unveiling of her Green New 
Deal, Rep. Alexandria Ocasio-Cortez (D-
N.Y.) has proposed that the United States be 
transformed into a command economy. Her 
fellow “democratic socialist” Sen. Bernie 
Sanders (I-Vt.) and a gaggle of Democratic 
presidential hopefuls all jumped on the 
bandwagon. This is a very helpful step—
helpful in that it clarifies exactly how radical 
the Ocasio-Cortez/Sanders ideology is.

No longer should anyone be lulled into a 
false sense of security by Ocasio-Cortez’s 
use of the adjective “democratic.” No lon-
ger will Sanders be able to soft-pedal his 
socialism by claiming disingenuously that 
he wants the United States to adopt the 
Scandinavian model of “socialism.” That 
was a bogus claim from the start, since the 
Scandinavian countries are not socialist. 
Danish Prime Minister Lars Lokke Rasmus-
sen corrected the error in Sanders’ asser-
tion, categorically stating: “Denmark is far 
from a socialist planned economy. Denmark 
is a market economy.”

The Nordic countries are not socialist, 
but they do have elaborate, expensive so-
cial welfare safety nets that require high 
taxes on virtually everyone, including the 
middle class. It’s funny how Sanders and 
Ocasio-Cortez avoid saying that there will 
need to be massive tax increases on middle-
class citizens to fund a Scandinavian-style 
welfare state.

But Sanders and Ocasio-Cortez want Un-
cle Sam to exercise far more control over 
the U.S. economy than simply expanding 
welfare programs.

Seizing Control
In the Nordic countries, the principle of pri-
vate ownership of business is respected, and 
governments do not dictate to businesses 
how to spend their money. By contrast, 
Sanders, Ocasio-Cortez, and their political 
cronies favor mandating a higher minimum 

wage. (Note: There are no minimum wage 
laws in Scandinavia.)

Further, Sanders joined with Sen. Chuck 
Schumer (D-N.Y.) earlier this month to pro-
pose a plan that would impose various re-
quirements, such as paying more money 
to their employees, in order to receive gov-
ernment permission to buy back their own 
stock. Let that sink in for a moment: The left 
seeks to dictate how private corporations 
arrange their own finances and deploy their 
own assets.

Proposed laws that dictate minimum 
wages and preconditions for share buybacks 
chip away at the principle of “private” busi-
ness, but the Green New Deal would obliter-
ate it. Clearly, Ocasio-Cortez, Sanders, and 
their gang don’t want some watered-down 
version; they want socialism comparable 
to what Venezuela has today or what the 
Eastern Bloc had 30 to 70 years ago. If you 
don’t think so, just read their wish list.

Ocasio-Cortez’s campaign website called 
for government control over huge sectors 
of the U.S. economy: “Medicare for all,” “a 
federal jobs guarantee,” “higher education/
trade school for all,” and “housing as a hu-
man right.”

The Green New Deal goes much, much 
further. It calls for the elimination of fossil 
fuels in 10 years—that is, the closing of all 
gas stations, replacing them with electric-
charging stations; replacing or retooling 
tens of millions of vehicles that travel by 
land, sea, or air (with the alarming ac-
knowledgment “we aren’t sure that we’ll be 
able to get rid of ... airplanes [in ten years]”; 
replacing all power plants that use fossil fu-
els with wind and solar; and eliminating all 
jobs involved in the exploration, extraction, 
refining, and transportation of fossil fuels.

The plan also wants to “retrofit every 
building in America,” “overhaul transporta-
tion and agriculture,” “provide job training 
and education to all,” “guarantee a job with 
family-sustaining wages,” “provide high-
quality health care, housing,” and “ensure 
universal access to healthy food.”

In short, according to the FAQ that Ocasio-
Cortez posted, the Green New Deal is “the 
plan to build [a] new economy.” (Notice the 
arrogance: “the plan,” not “a plan.”) Folks, 
this is a call for central economic planning, 
Soviet-style. It would require the govern-
ment to seize operational control over eco-
nomic production and press tens of millions 
of workers into service building what the 
government orders rather than 
what consumers want—a 
failsafe recipe for im-
poverishment.

Saving the World
This plan to “mobi-
lize every aspect of 
the American econ-
omy” is pharaonic in 
its epic proportions. 
Just as the Egyptian 
pharaoh organized his people to build pyra-
mids, Ocasio-Cortez regards the American 
people as worker bees who should compli-
antly accept their government-appointed 
role in the new economic order and build 
the equivalent of hundreds of pyramids—
uneconomic monuments to the green gods.

If you think comparing Ocasio-Cortez to a 
pharaoh is over the top, her Senate co-spon-
sor, Sen. Edward Markey (D-Mass.), actually 
one-upped her. No mere pharaoh, Markey 
assumed the mantle of a mega-messiah, 
not content to offer salvation to the human 
race, but praising the Green New Deal as “a 

mission to save all of creation by engaging in 
massive job creation.” “All of creation”—the 
whole universe? Something tells me that 
man has been in Congress too long.

Setting aside comparisons to pharaohs 
and the messiah, Ocasio-Cortez is acting 
like a communist despot, exhibiting totali-
tarian tendencies. So fanatical is she in her 
desire to save the world from her fantasized 
fear of carbon dioxide, that she recently—in 
collaboration with Rep. Chellie Pingree of 
Maine—issued a thinly veiled threat to the 
CEOs of Google, Facebook, and Microsoft.

In the letter, Ocasio-Cortez and her col-
league scolded the high-tech giants for hav-
ing co-sponsored LibertyCon, a libertarian 
conference that included speakers from 
both sides of the “what to do about climate 
change” debate.

After acknowledging the companies’ “past 
commitments ... to address climate change” 
and “the example [they] have set promoting 
sustainability and evidence-based science,” 
Ocasio-Cortez and Pingree then stated that 
the companies had “compromised” their 
past good behavior “by [their] implicit sup-
port of the session” that included a skeptical 
opinion. (Note: Computer models are not 
evidence-based science, both because they 
contradict actual observational evidence 
and because they are predictions, not facts.)

The letter went on to warn the tech titans 
that it was “imperative to ensure that the 
climate-related views espoused at Liberty-
Con do not reflect the values of your com-
panies.” Not only is this a clumsy attempt to 
squelch free speech, it has the totalitarian 
flavor of denouncing certain thoughts or 
beliefs as unacceptable. One can imagine 
future inquisitions: “Do you now or have 
you ever thought that carbon dioxide is not 
a threat to life as we know it?”

As draconian and potentially totalitarian 
as Ocasio-Cortez and her Green New Deal 
are, we should be grateful that the socialist 
threat has come out from hiding and made 
its intentions so explicit and unmistakable.

For example, the newest declared candi-
date for the Democratic Party’s presiden-
tial nomination, Sen. Amy Klobuchar (D-
Minn.), has already shown how shameless 
she can be in speaking out of both sides 
of her mouth. On one hand, she has said 
that she would vote in favor of the Green 
New Deal. On the other, she affirmed on 

Fox News, “I am a Democrat and not a 
socialist. ... I believe in capi-

talism.” Sorry, sena-
tor, you can’t have 

it both ways. If 

you are for the Green New 
Deal—a socialistic central 
plan that would usher in 
a command economy in 
the United States—you are 
a socialist, period.

Thank you, Ocasio-
Cortez, for helping to clarify who is a so-
cialist and who isn’t.

Mark Hendrickson is an adjunct professor 
of economics and sociology at Grove City 
College. He is the author of several books, 
including “The Big Picture: The Sci-
ence, Politics, and Economics of Climate 
Change.”

Views expressed in this article are the 
opinions of the author and do not nec-
essarily reflect the views of The Epoch 
Times.
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It seems highly unlikely 
that Manafort would look 
at Trump and see a meal 
ticket to big time.
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Is It Too Little, Too Late From the Fed?

Valentin Schmid

After Jerome Powell 
became Fed chairman 
in 2017, this publica-
tion made the not-so-

bold prediction that he 
would bail out financial 

markets when necessary, al-
though he doesn’t have a doctoral 
degree, and was talking and walk-
ing tough for most of his tenure.

But when markets crashed 20 
percent, due to Powell’s incessant 
raising of rates, tough talk, and re-
duction of the Fed balance sheet, 
he got cold feet, as expected, and 
flip-flopped with some very ac-
commodative language.

This “talking up the market” 
culminated in a very meek Federal 
Open Markets Committee (FOMC) 
statement at the end of January, 
containing this line: “The Com-
mittee would be prepared to use its 
full range of tools, including alter-
ing the size and composition of its 
balance sheet, if future economic 
conditions were to warrant a more 
accommodative monetary policy.”

But that’s all it is at the moment: 
Just pleasant talk, no action, al-
though the Fed is clearly position-
ing itself to act in the near future.

The markets did expect more rate 
increases in 2019, but a January 
boost wasn’t a foregone conclusion 
even before Powell’s sweet-talking 
started in early January.

The same with the reduction of 
the balance sheet, or Quantitative 
Tightening (QT). The only thing 
that has changed is the language. 
The Fed will continue to reduce 
its balance sheet by a maximum 
of $50 billion per month, which, 
in reality, is closer to $30 billion to 
$40 billion, because only a limited 
amount of assets mature or “run 
off” every month.

So despite the sweet talk, nothing 
has changed from late December, 
when markets were staring into 
the abyss.

Discounting the Future
However, financial markets are 
often removed from reality and 
try to discount the future. So the 
optimism is partly justified, since 
the Fed has now clearly communi-
cated it won’t step further on the 
brakes of increasing rates, and may 
remove its foot from the brake of 
QT anytime it pleases.

Before the verbal course correc-
tion, markets had to expect more 
rate increases and a continuation 
of QT—not a pretty picture.

Now, the picture looks better 
because markets know that if 
economic or financial conditions 
worsen, the Fed will be there to 
have their back, as always.

This Time Is Different
This is nothing new. It happens all 
the time, from big crises such as 
those of Long Term Capital Man-
agement in 1998 and the 2008 
crisis, to smaller incidents like the 
U.S. debt downgrade of 2011 and 
the China jitters of 2016.

However, the smaller cases are 
more instructive to understand the 
context we are operating in, and, 
in those cases, it’s not all about the 
Fed.

In 2011, for example, when Eu-
rope and the euro came within an 
inch of collapsing, the European 
Central Bank (ECB) saved the day 
by expanding its balance sheet 
(i.e. printing money) by a trillion 
dollars with its clunky Long-Term 
Refinancing Operations (LTRO).

Of course, those loans should 
have been repaid and the balance 
sheet reduced, but they got re-

placed by the ECB’s Quantitative 
Easing (QE) program a couple of 
years later.

In 2011, action was desperately 
needed as the Fed had just stopped 
its second round of QE worth $600 
billion by June of 2011, and the 
United States’ sovereign debt was 
downgraded a notch in an unprec-
edented move by Standard & Poor’s 
over the summer. Markets were 
very jittery at that time, although 
they never declined the 20 percent 
that would classify the period as a 
bear market; it was pretty close, 
though.

So, for most of 2011, central banks 
were still in expansion mode and 
had to save the markets by expand-
ing even more. It worked, including 
the Fed’s strategy to take risk out 
of the market by buying longer-
term bonds and selling 
shorter maturities, 
the so-called Op-
eration Twist, 
which be-
gan in late 
2011.

In 2012, 
markets were 
down double-
digits in the summer, 
in the wake of the Greece 
bailout and still lingering con-
cerns about the eurozone.

At that time, the ECB was in 
expansion mode with LTRO and 
the Fed was leveling off its second 
round of QE, when then-Chair-
man Ben Bernanke stepped on 
the gas again by announcing an-
other round of QE in September, 
printing $40 billion per month.

Of course, Mario Draghi did his 
bit of verbal acrobatics by promis-
ing the ECB would do “whatever it 
takes” to save the euro.

Aside from Draghi, whose ECB 
was still expanding its balance 
sheet with various LTROs, the Fed 

took tangible action by boosting its 
balance sheet with QE3.

It’s important to note that dur-
ing those years, the global central 
bank and credit cycle had never 
even turned negative; it was just 
stocks that were scared of a euro-
zone crisis.

China Scare
The latest mini-crisis came when 
China had some significant prob-
lems with its economy and cur-
rency in late 2015 and early 2016. 
During that time, the Fed had al-
ready stopped QE and was slowly 
raising rates, and the ECB and the 
Bank of Japan (BoJ) were still in 
expansion mode.

To arrest this double-digit market 

drop (it never made it to 20 percent 
bear-market territory like right 
now), the Fed had to delay its tight-
ening schedule, the Chinese had to 
order the state banking system to 
expand money like there was no 
tomorrow, and the ECB and the BoJ 
kept printing.

All this is different now.

Now, not only haven’t central 
banks increased their liquidity 
injections, all except for the BoJ 
have completely stopped their ex-
pansionary policies and the Fed 
has even tightened for almost two 
years.

Globally, we aren’t even close to 
2016, 2012, or 2011, when central 
banks were ready to put the foot 
on the gas again at a moment’s no-
tice, although the Fed is moving in 
that direction and the Chinese are 
becoming desperate again, and are 
launching an equivalent to QE. But 
they are on their own this time and 
the quantities involved so far are 
unknown.

Now central banks, especially the 
Fed, are promising only to brake 
less, not to inject another round 

of liquidity into the system, al-
though that step may come 

in the future, but only 
after economic and 

financial condi-
tions worsen 

again.

Credit Cycle
In the meantime, 

this is bad news be-
cause, although central 

banks can act swiftly and 
print new money at a whim, 

they are akin to the captains of oil 
tankers. They can issue the order to 
change course and turn the wheel, 
but the credit system (the tanker) 
will take a while to adjust its di-
rection.

And the global credit tanker is 
turning into full-blown deflation 
mode, thanks to two years of ac-
tual and relative central-bank 
tightening. We are starting to 
see the beginning of U.S. dollar 
credit stress in emerging markets 
such as Turkey and Argentina and 
also in domestic financial markets 
such as leveraged loans.

The biggest indicator of a com-
plete deflation cycle is the inversion 
of the yield curve, or when short-
term debt yields more than long-
term debt because investors pile 
into long-term government debt 
as the safest investment in an eco-
nomic downturn.

The most common measure of 
this “inversion” is the difference 
between 10-year and 2-year Trea-
sury bonds, which are only 0.2 per-
cent apart. Other maturity mixes, 
like the 1-year to 7-year, are at 
parity and the 2-year to 5-year is 
negative.

The action in government debt 
markets is just a symptom of what 
is happening in the real economy.

“We are at a point when the 
yield curve shift begins to impact 
future growth by slowing credit 
extensions or even throwing them 
into reverse ... Credit standards for 
commercial and industrial loans 
tightened in the fourth quarter ... 
Tighter standards and weaker de-
mand were also in evidence in real 
estate and consumer loans,” wrote 
research firm TS Lombard.

To see how long it takes for the 
tanker to turn around after credit 
deflation has set in, we merely have 
to go back to some of the larger cri-
ses and stock-market corrections 
like 2008 and 2001, which took 
years to reverse even after the Fed 
cut rates and rapidly boosted its 
balance sheet, mostly before the 
economy entered a recession and 
the credit system started to deflate 
in earnest.

And this is exactly what’s dif-
ferent this time. While the global 
financial credit tanker was merely 
stalling in 2011, 2012, and 2016, and 
the central bank captains just had 
to put their foot on the gas and in-
crease speed, right now they have 
to turn the tanker around from de-
flation to inflation again—but the 
question is how far it will go.

TS Lombard thinks there is still 
a chance before the 1-year to 10-
year yield curve inverts, which 
has historically preceded reces-
sions, with the exception of 1965. 
The Fed acted early in that case to 
prevent a recession, which is why 
TS Lombard thinks the Fed will 
completely ease off the brakes dur-
ing its March meeting and taper 
the balance-sheet reduction.

Whether that will be enough 
to turn the tanker and avoid a 
recession remains to be seen. If 
not, global central banks will 
be forced to step on the gas hard 
again and add a few serial num-
bers to their QE programs.

Views expressed in this article are 
the opinions of the author and do 
not necessarily reflect the views of 
The Epoch Times.
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The Fed has 
capitulated to 
the markets, but 
can it avoid a 
recession?

The Federal Reserve build-
ing in Washington on Dec. 

12, 2018.
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